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Preface

Lack of adequate documentation is one of the largest pitfalls facing any accounting system. One of four excuses is usually given: (1) nobody reads it, (2) the hands-on approach in which each person teaches another is a better method, (3) written policies and procedures are too confining, and (4) nobody has the time to write documentation. In a constantly changing accounting world, none of these excuses can stand very long.

If an accounting staff and company executives are to be fully informed, this flood of material must be read and, when necessary, related to the accounting operations at your company. The dissemination of information on this scale cannot be handled orally or with periodic meetings and brief memos to the staff involved. Thus, there is a need for clear, consistent documentation to describe the accounting system being used, the principles involved, the policies that management wishes enforced, and the procedures describing what is to be done and how it is to be performed on a daily basis.

This book covers the development, implementation, and maintenance of 13 different accounting manuals. Two of these are mandatory: the general accounting manual that describes account coding schemes and how to code accounting transactions, and the policy/procedure statement system that provides full information to anyone needing to know a company’s accounting policies and the procedures to maintain them.

The other 11 manuals are optional, but as you read about them you will find that they supplement and complement the primary accounting documentation; they are the lubricant of the accounting system, and as such are useful for increasing the efficiency of operations. If none of the following manuals are developed, certain portions of each will appear in the basic manuals but in less depth. They are as follows:


1. Corporate policies manual. Contains nearly 250 policies used to govern all functional areas of the accounting department.

2. Purchasing card manual. Describes all policies and procedures needed to operate an effective purchasing card program.

3. Accounting controls manual. Contains nearly 400 controls that can be used to ensure that accounting transactions are completed with a minimal number of exceptions, and that the probability of fraud is reduced.

4. Period-end manual. Describes the actions, reports, and schedules to be completed in sufficient detail to assure that the period-end closing is accurate, consistent, usable, and timely.

5. Budgeting manual. Describes the specific steps to be followed to create the annual budget, as well as task responsibilities by position.

6. Property accounting manual. Shows the forms that should be filled in and stored in order to maintain a proper database of all corporate fixed assets, describing when items were purchased or constructed, where they are located, and how they were disposed of.

7. Forms manual. Describes every form in detail—its use, limitations, and how to complete it.

8. Document management manual. Describes how to index, store, and dispose of information related to the accounting function.

9. User manual. Provides information to non-accountant employees who are involved in initiating or adding to an accounting document. This manual provides a list of employees by function, a condensed chart of accounts, and instructions for completing specific forms that are later used by the accounting department, such as the employee expense report.

10. Information technology manual. A condensation of portions of the technical computer processing instructions that accountants must handle, which can extend to basic operating procedures for the information technology staff.

11. Human resources manual. Contains a list of all policies related to human resources activities, as well as specific procedures required to perform operations within the human resources department.



This book gives the reader a wide variety of real-life examples for constructing all of the manuals just noted, as well as pertinent advice on how to write clearly, construct easy-to-use manuals, and issue both paper-based and electronic manuals. It should be the one-stop solution for anyone constructing accounting manuals.

September 2007

Centennial, Colorado
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Chapter 1

ACCOUNTING MANUALS

1.1 INTRODUCTION

Ask a dozen accountants to name the major method of communicating in their accounting operations and they will probably describe the accounting manual. However, you will get 12 answers about what the manual is, varying from a simple listing of account names and numbers to an academic treatise of the philosophy and practice of accounting as used in that particular environment.

In its simplest form, the accounting manual documents the meaning of sets of descriptive numbers used in an organized manner to record, summarize, and report information. It may contain descriptions of one or more of the systems and procedures that explain the basic accounting structure of the enterprise.

However, the manual can be much more than numbers and definitions. It may contain organization charts to show responsibility and lines of authority, policy, formulas, clerical procedures, special industry terminology, data processing rules and procedures, forms descriptions and uses, and so on. It is the general map through which one can learn to travel through a company’s operations.

Every business enterprise has an accounting system, from the self-employed person operating a small business out of his or her home to charitable, not-for-profit organizations, educational institutions, governmental agencies, industrial and service companies, and so on. The system may be completely undocumented, possibly just a checkbook and a list of receipts, or it may be an elaborate, difficult-to-maintain, small library of books and manuals used by large national and international companies.

An accounting manual has three basic purposes: to answer questions, to instruct accounting personnel, and to provide consistent reporting of business transactions. As a printed document, it must be useful and, more importantly, used. Therefore, it should be formal—not in the sense of being rigid and unyielding, but in the sense of being complete and consistent.

It should be available to all who need it or think they need it. Certainly, the accounting staff needs the manual. Also, line supervisors, managers, and others who submit accounting data should have the manual available to them.

It should always be current, a condition requiring a method of publishing changes, additions, and deletions very quickly (see the discussion of electronic methods of distribution in Chapter 4). Finally, the manual should be easy to use as a tool to answer questions of consistency, accuracy, and clarity of presentation.

A word of warning: Unless the contents of a manual are to be used exclusively by accountants in the accounting operation, the accountants must turn their terminology into our terminology—that is, terminology that can be understood by non-accountant users of the manual. Avoid accounting jargon at all times.

For reference purposes, accounting manual, as used in this book, includes all the modules described in this chapter. The reader has the choice of developing selected modules and combining them into one accounting manual or maintaining each one as a separate manual. The modules are:


	General accounting manual

	Corporate policies manual

	Accounting procedures

	Purchasing card manual

	Accounting controls manual

	Year-end manual

	Budgeting manual

	Property accounting manual

	Forms manual

	Document management manual

	User manual

	Information technology manual

	Human resources manual



Each of these modules is briefly described in the following sections, and more fully described in the indicated chapters.

1.2 GENERAL ACCOUNTING MANUAL

The general accounting manual includes a general description of the overall accounting system, the chart of accounts, account descriptions, activities calendars for the accounting staffing, accounting policies, and descriptions of the key process cycles. Parts of the general accounting manual are usually included in the user manual to provide account coding information to other departments, such as purchasing and receiving, so that they can code transaction documents or otherwise provide accounting information. The general accounting manual is covered in Chapter 2.

The chart of accounts is the basic underlying account code structure that is used to record information in the general ledger. To create the chart, one prepares a list of every account number and name, which should include every asset, liability, ownership, income, and expense item. Then a one or two sentence definition is written for each line item in the chart of accounts. The list of definitions developed here will be the primary reference of permitted actions—and, more importantly, those that are not permitted—in each account being used. If divisions or departments are included in the corporate structure, then the account code structure can be stretched into a longer format to accommodate codes that can be traced to specific operating entities within the organization.

Job descriptions are extremely useful for determining which employee positions are responsible for which tasks, as well as to form a basis for periodic job reviews. These descriptions are most easily compiled by interviewing the staff members to see what they already do; on an ongoing basis, the descriptions can be adjusted to shift work among personnel to achieve increased levels of efficiency.

An activities calendar should be constructed not only for the entire department but also for each person within it. An activity calendar should itemize exactly which tasks should be completed on each day of the month. It forms the basis for task assignments within the accounting department, and is an excellent visual tool for managing the department’s function. The calendar will be in a constant state of flux, as work tasks are constantly shifted among different staff members or moved to different time slots to create a balanced work flow for the department as a whole.

A more complete manual would contain a section on accounting principles and general procedures. For example, the company might indicate that it follows a published industry account numbering and format procedure, or that it operates in accordance with control guidelines laid down by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA).

Finally, the manual may contain flowcharts of the principal process cycles used by the company (such as the purchasing and order fulfillment cycles) as well as related procedures. The documentation of these key underlying activities gives the reader a broad conceptual overview of how the key accounting activities work, and how documents flow from function to function in order to complete tasks.

1.3 CORPORATE POLICIES MANUAL

Corporate policies are needed to set up boundaries within which transactions are to be accepted, and for how those transactions are to be processed. Policies are necessary components of a comprehensive system of controls and form an integral part of a company’s risk management system. Chapter 5 contains nearly 250 policies for many transactional areas, including cash, hedges, barter transactions, inventory valuation, intangible assets, research and development costs, investments, debt extinguishment, warrants, lease terminations, dividends, options, and foreign currency translations. Though not all of these policies will be needed by any one company, a selection of the policies could form the foundation of a company’s corporate policies manual.

1.4 ACCOUNTING PROCEDURES

The accounting procedures used must be clearly stated in a consistent format. To aid in the construction of such a manual, Chapter 3 itemizes a number of key writing, style, and mechanics guidelines. It also describes how to create an understandable flowchart that can accompany a procedure, including the most common direction of flow and types of graphics to use. The chapter also notes how to calculate and interpret readability statistics for a procedure. In addition to these general guidelines, the chapter describes how to lay out a simple procedure format and accompanying header, which are used in all subsequent chapters whenever example procedures are shown. Next, we cover the key work steps needed to construct a procedures manual, itemizing the process flow required to ensure that the information contained within a procedure is accurate. Finally, there is an itemization of suggested procedures that can be used. This list is by no means complete, because accounting systems will vary widely by industry, and even between companies within the same industry; nonetheless, it provides a core set of procedures that can be expanded upon to create a complete set of company-specific procedures.

With the basic procedure construction information in hand, one can then proceed to the creation of actual accounting procedures. Chapter 6 assists in this process by presenting a long list of actual procedures. They are summarized into the following categories for easy reference:


	Acquisitions

	Billing

	Budgeting

	Credit

	Financial statement preparation

	Fixed asset transactions

	Funds management

	Internal auditing

	Payroll

	Purchasing



The majority of the procedures were taken from the procedures manuals of several real companies that use different software packages and operate in different industries. Consequently, some of the most detailed information listed in the procedures will only be applicable to very specific situations, and must be modified to meet the reader’s needs. Other procedures, such as those applying to acquisitions and budgeting, are more broad-based and can be applied to one’s existing systems with comparatively little modification.

1.5 PURCHASING CARD MANUAL

A purchasing card program is an integral part of the purchasing program of many companies, since it usually results in a substantial reduction in the cost of acquiring goods and services. However, most such programs are informal, and can lead to purchasing abuses or excessive expenditures. The purchasing card manual shown in Chapter 7 itemizes how to set up a purchasing card program, as well as what forms are to be used to ensure that purchases are made in the appropriate amounts by authorized purchasers and that all purchases have been assigned to the correct cost centers.

1.6 ACCOUNTING CONTROLS MANUAL

In the era of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, where adequate control systems are mandatory for publicly held companies, an accounting controls manual is not only a good idea, but should also be a cornerstone of a risk management program. Chapter 8 contains a list of nearly 400 controls that can be assembled into a controls manual, which in turn should be integrated into individual accounting procedures. It is advantageous to separately itemize controls in an accounting controls manual, since a risk manager or auditor can more easily peruse the document to ascertain the types of controls being used.

1.7 YEAR-END MANUAL

The year-end manual is probably better described as a year-end assignments list. It defines all of the tasks that must be accomplished at the end of a company’s fiscal year to close the books and prepare the required accounting statements, schedules, and narrative for the annual report.

Once prepared, the year-end manual is updated annually for any changes in the fiscal year-end closing procedures. Such changes come about by a change in management, a change in auditors, or an expansion or contraction of year-end procedures caused by a change in accounting systems. The revised year-end manual is usually issued one or two months before the fiscal year-end to every employee assigned to complete one or more closing tasks. The manual is sometimes assembled in cooperation with the outside auditors, and working papers or schedules required by them are included as tasks. The year-end and period-end manuals are discussed in Chapter 9, which covers specific closing activities, the soft close, and closing procedures that are tailored to specific accounting positions.

1.8 BUDGETING MANUAL

Most organizations of any size spend a considerable amount of time creating budgets for at least the upcoming year, and perhaps for multiple years. If so, they have found that this is a complex and highly iterative process that impacts virtually every part of a company. In Chapter 10, we present the system of interlocking budgets and describe how they are structured so that one can see how information is first assembled for the sales budget. This information then cascades down into a series of “cost of goods sold” budgets that determine targeted inventory levels, purchasing volumes, production targets, and requirements for facilities as well as direct labor. After these steps are completed, budgets for supporting functions—such as general, administrative, and marketing—are added to the set of budgeting documents. The chapter contains a complete example of these interlocking budgets, as well as a discussion of flex budgeting, under which the supporting budgets all automatically change if revenue levels vary from the initial budgeted level. There is also coverage of the budgeting process and how budgets can be used as an integral part of corporate control systems.

1.9 PROPERTY ACCOUNTING MANUAL

The typical organization only tracks its fixed assets through some bare-bones entries in a depreciation calculation that itemizes the general type of asset, when it was purchased, what it cost, and the amount of its monthly depreciation. However, there are many other details that should be tracked, such as the presence of warranties that can be used in the event of a product failure, the location of each asset, and contact information about suppliers. A truly comprehensive set of information about each fixed asset is recorded in the property accounting manual, which is described in Chapter 11.

The chapter describes how to accumulate costs for projects that are being developed in-house with a project cost report. It also describes how to collect and organize information about land projects, which require the accumulation of special information such as legal descriptions, zoning classifications, and assessed value. There are additional discussions and different forms to cover land improvement projects, building projects, and the purchase of factory equipment, office equipment, vehicles, leasehold improvements, and leases. The chapter concludes with a complete example of a property accounting manual, showing the indexing, procedures, cost sheets, and instructions for the completion of each form.

1.10 FORMS MANUAL

Forms are the vehicles that carry information and approvals throughout the accounting map. They record the authorization and the purpose of a transaction and what actions are accomplished, such as buying, selling, making, biding, moving, adding, deleting, changing, and so forth. Forms are the foundation of computerized data processing activities. Developing and maintaining a forms manual need not be difficult or burdensome.

Chapter 12 provides a form survey worksheet to identify needed forms, presents a number of basic rules for creating forms, and then shows how to create form descriptions and compile them into a formal forms manual.

1.11 DOCUMENT MANAGEMENT MANUAL

Accounting departments are exceptionally good at creating paperwork, but typically experience considerable difficulty in indexing, storing, and disposing of it once it has been created. The document management manual shown in Chapter 13 contains policies and procedures that show how to handle these functions. The result should be a more organized accounting department where needed paperwork is readily available, less-necessary items are filed away, and there is a regimented system for disposing of outdated documents.

1.12 USER MANUAL

The user manual is most useful in companies where non-accountants initiate or prepare original accounting forms or documents that provide accounting information to the general accounting operation. Examples of such transactions are the hiring or termination of an employee or the submission of an expense report for reimbursement. Other examples of user manual procedures are petty cash reports, receiving reports, shipping documents, branch sales and activity, requests for special supplier payments such as subscriptions, dues, contractual services performed locally, and so on.

This manual can be general in nature or may contain specific abstracts from the general manual, forms manual, and policy/procedure statements. Usually it contains abstracts from other manuals, so it can be easy to prepare. It is designed for mass distribution to departments or individuals who use or prepare accounting documents, initiate account transaction coding, have some knowledge of the accounting process, or receive summary accounting reports. It can also be used as a training tool for non-accounting supervisors, secretaries, and others who are involved in adding or checking data on accounting input documents.

Instructions for creating a user manual, as well as a complete example of such a manual, are shown in Chapter 14.

1.13 INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY MANUAL

This manual has limited distribution, principally to the accounting and information technology staff members who are responsible for submitting forms and data to computer operations for data entry, processing, storage, and retrieval of the data for accounting use, as well as those responsible for ongoing computer system maintenance and development. This manual is unique in that it contains both forms descriptions and procedures. It may also contain details of file record contents and codes used, descriptions of output reports, and the data and calculations used to report each item on an output information report. The information technology manual is addressed in Chapter 15.

Chapter 15 provides a comprehensive set of policies related to systems development, which are:


	Project charter standards

	Work plan standards

	Project team roles and responsibilities

	Risk management standards

	Project status reporting standards

	Issue management standards

	Project completion debriefing standards



The policies can be easily adapted to one’s needs with minimal modification. The chapter also contains a series of procedures covering a variety of tasks in the areas of computer system maintenance, the setup of new employees with computers, and the primary tasks involved in the development of new computer systems.

In addition to the fundamental components of the information technology manual, the chapter also covers the use of system survey reports to conduct an inventory of computer systems, as well as a computer reports questionnaire to see if long-standing reports can be reduced or eliminated from use. The chapter also covers the key elements of documentation for database tables and output reports. It finishes with a discussion of the key elements that should be included in a disaster recovery manual, which may be a separate manual or contained within the main information technology manual.

1.14 HUMAN RESOURCES MANUAL

As was the case for the information technology function, the human resources function is frequently under the supervision of the controller of chief financial officer, especially in smaller firms. Consequently, Chapter 16 is included so that one can see a comprehensive list of 28 human resources policies and 11 procedures that can be used to process the variety of transactions related to the payment of employees. Examples of policies included in the chapter are termination, grievance, sexual harassment, and jury duty. The employee pay procedures include the processing of changes to employee pay, cafeteria plan deductions, garnishments, and terminations.

1.15 ISO 9000 QUALITY STANDARDS

With the growth of international trade, particularly in raw materials and parts, customers are demanding assurances that distant suppliers are producing quality products. In an effort to provide that assurance, the International Standards Organization (ISO) issued the ISO 9000 quality standards. Acquiring certification is a lengthy process, but has proven to be necessary for those companies wishing to operate on a global basis.

During the ISO certification process, companies have learned the risk of having poor documentation and documentation practices. Many have therefore had to make significant changes in documentation to achieve certification.

ISO 9000 highlights the importance of comprehensive and well-written manuals for the production of quality products. The same is true for accounting. The quality of the output of the accounting system also depends on sound documentation practices. Accountants and particularly auditors have taken a leadership role here. The AICPA has issued the Statement of Auditing Standard 55. The Consideration of Internal Structure in the Financial Statement Audit and Internal Control—Integrated Framework is published by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (COSO) of the Treadway Commission. Both acknowledge the importance of documentation in the internal control structure.

There are several ISO standards. ISO 9000-1, Quality Management and Quality Assurance Standards—Guidelines for Selection and Use provides an overview of ISO 9000. ISO standards 9001, 9002, and 9003 provide quality assurance standards for manufacturers as well as service organizations.

All ISO 9000 standards require quality system documentation. ISO 9000 Quality System Standard 4.2.2, “Quality System Documentation,” states that “all the quality system elements, requirements, and provisions should be clearly documented in a systematic and orderly manner.” This very general statement was given more detail in ISO 9004 Standard 17.2, “Quality Documentation,” which stated the following:

The system should require that sufficient documentation be available to follow the achievement of the required product quality and the effective operation of the quality management system. Appropriate sub-contractor documentation should be included. All documentation should be legible, dated (including revision dates), clean, readily identifiable and maintained in an orderly manner. Data may be hard copy or stored in a computer.

In addition the quality management system should provide a method for removing and/or disposing of documentation used in the manufacture of products when that documentation has become out of date. The following are examples of types of documents requiring control: drawings; specifications; blueprints; inspection instructions; test procedures; work instructions; operation sheets; quality manual; operational procedures; quality assurance procedures.

The standard explains that the quality manual can be one document supported by several tiers of other documents, each becoming progressively more detailed. For example, there may be an overall system manual and one or more specific procedural manuals. Together, these documents define the complete quality system. This standard is expounded upon in a handbook published by the ISO, Documentation and Information, and ISO 10013, Guidelines for Developing Quality Manuals.

The ISO 9004-2, “Guidelines for Services,” describes the standard documentation system. Standard 5.4.3.1 states that the appropriate quality system documentation includes:

(a) Quality manual: This should provide a description of the quality system as a permanent reference. It should contain the quality policy; the quality objectives; the structure of the organization, including responsibilities; a description of the quality system, including all elements and provisions that form part of it; the quality practices of the organization; the structure and distribution of the quality system documentation ...

This standard is followed by Standard 5.4.3.2, “Documentation Control.” This standard requires that documentation be legible, dated, clear, and readily identifiable, and that it carry authorization status. Methods should be established to control the issuance, distribution, and revision of documents. The methods should ensure that documents are “approved by authorized personnel; released and made available in the areas where information is needed; understood and acceptable to users; reviewed for necessary revision; removed when obsolete.”

The ISO standards cited here require firms to maintain a “quality manual.” Companies are not required to maintain an accounting manual, but we certainly recommend that every firm have one. Also, a firm’s auditors expect an accounting manual, because adequate documentation is described by Statement of Auditing Standard (SAS) 55 as one of the primary control procedures and thus is an integral part of the control structure.

Again, the ISO standards suggest that the quality manual be one document, supported by several tiers of other documents, each becoming progressively more detailed. The ISO gives the example of an overall system manual and one or more specific procedural manuals, which together define the complete quality system. This book describes a system in which a company’s accounting manual is composed of multiple modules that include the general accounting manual, accounting procedures, year-end or period-end manual, budgeting manual, property accounting manual, forms manual, user manual, information technology manual, and human resources manual. This is just one possible design, but is quite similar to that recommended by the ISO for the quality manual.

ISO 9000 requires that the quality manual contain the quality policy as well as the quality objectives. Most accounting manuals explain a firm’s accounting policies, but many accounting manuals fail to provide a statement of the objectives of the accounting system. This would be a positive addition to the manual. Such a provision might include a mission statement for the accounting department, a vision statement, and some specific strategies that the department has adopted to reach the vision.

This section illustrated that ISO 9000 standards call for the documentation of quality systems, which includes a quality manual. With this knowledge in hand, accountants can offer their expertise in documentation to their firm’s quality control function. Accountants in firms that are undergoing ISO 9000 certification can also learn from the quality control function, as recommendations for changes in the quality documentation may have an impact on company-wide procedures, especially in purchasing. For further information on ISO 9000 and the ISO in general, see the ISO site on the World Wide Web at www.iso.ch.

1.16 IN THE BEGINNING

To begin improving the current accounting system documentation, one should determine the strengths and weaknesses of the current documentation. To do this, questionnaires should be sent to the controller, the professional accountants on the staff, the clerical personnel in accounting, and the managers of departments related to accounting but not part of the accounting department. These departments generally are purchasing, shipping, receiving, finance, and human resources, as well as any other department that furnishes information to accounting.

Exhibit 1.1 is a questionnaire for determining the current status and use of an accounting manual. One form should be used for each separate manual. Enter the general name of the manual, the date that the form must be returned to the person designated to summarize the data, and the department or name of that person (who may also be a consultant). The employee receiving the questionnaire completes the form as follows:


	If the designated manual is not used at all by the recipient, it should be left blank and returned. If used, the frequency of use should be checked.

	A section should address some of the common problems with documentation. These questions are answered “yes” or “no,” along with an example to illustrate any “no” answers.

	The recipients answer each use with “yes” or “no” and enter a final overall rating of the manual being surveyed.



Exhibit 1.1 Current Accounting Documentation Questionnaire


MANUAL: General Accounting Manual

Name of Reviewer _________________ Title _____________ Dept. __________

I. __ Check here if your position does not require use of this accounting manual. Then stop your work on this questionnaire and return it to the address below.

How often does your position require you to use this accounting manual? Check the appropriate frequency.

[image: Image]
II. For this manual, did you find any of the following? Give a specific example of any item marked "No" on the other side of this form.

[image: Image]
III. Rate how useful the manual is for each of its uses. (Use a 10–point scale, where a 1 is not at all useful and a 10 is tremendously useful.)

[image: Image]
Return completed form by ____________ to ______________________

Exhibit 1.2 Summary of Current Accounting Documentation


1. Manual _____________________________ Person Responsible _______________________ Brief description of the contents of the manual:

2. What is the distribution of the manual (who has manuals)?

3. Describe the format of the manual. Are manuals distributed in printed form or part of an electronic document system? If they are distributed on electronic media, describe the system used.

4. If the manual is updated, how often? How is the update accomplished?

5. Are there other sources of documentation of the accounting function/system besides the manual described above?

6. Is there anything in this documentation that you feel is a major weakness? If yes, describe.

7. SUMMARY OF QUESTIONNAIRES: How was the accounting documentation rated on a 10–point scale, where 1 is not at all useful and 10 is tremendously useful?

____ Controller.

____ Average of all accounting professional staff.

____ Average of managers of departments related to accounting.

____ Average of all accounting department clerical staff.

8. Does it appear that there is a need for more documentation? Explain.






Exhibit 1.2 is the Summary of Current Accounting Documentation, which is compiled by the person designated to do so. This person should be knowledgeable about the current documentation and may be the principal writer. The reviewer completes this form as follows:


	Enter the formal name of the manual, the person responsible for maintaining its contents and distribution lists, and a brief description of the manual being surveyed.

	Enter the normal distribution of the manual in general terms, such as accounting personnel or designated departments.

	Describe the general format of the manual, such as numbered sections, indexing, and general layout. Also describe how the manual is available via electronic media or some other method.

	Describe how the manual is updated. Is it edited and changed periodically, such as each year, or are only new items distributed as needed?

	Describe any other possible sources of documentation, such as file folders of examples of transactions or forms, or textbooks.

	Describe anything the reviewer thinks may be a major weakness. (The principal weaknesses are listed in the questionnaire.)

	Summarize individual questionnaires for the groups shown. There should be some weighting of each user group. Also, the yes-no answers to question two of the individual questionnaires should be summarized to determine whether there are definite patterns of weakness.

	Enter an opinion about whether improved documentation is needed, with explanations of what principal weaknesses were discovered.



Once the survey is completed and discussed with appropriate personnel such as the chief financial officer, controller, and treasurer, the task to develop new documentation can begin.

1.17 PROCEDURES TO WRITE AND CHANGE PROCEDURES

Though many people want to sit down at a computer and immediately start writing procedures, this usually leads to a set of documents with poor formatting and inconsistent writing. When such documents are issued, readers find them difficult to read, so many ignore them, thereby voiding the purpose of the procedures.

A better way to approach procedure writing is to first create procedures that describe not only how to create a new procedure, but also how to update an existing one. These two tasks are documented in the sample procedures shown in Exhibits 1.3 and 1.4.

Exhibit 1.3 How to Write a Procedure Statement




	Policy/Procedure Statement
	Retrieval No.:
	PROC-01



	[image: Image]

	Page:
	1 of 1



	Issue Date:
	10/28/0X



	Supersedes:
	N/A



	Subject: How to Write a Procedure
	 
	 



	1. PURPOSE AND SCOPE



	This procedure is used by any employees who require some assistance in determining the methodology for creating a new procedure.



	2. RESPONSIBILITIES



	WRITER
	Staff Writer



	3. PROCEDURES



	3.1 WRITER
	Access Procedure Template



	 
	Go to the Word subdirectory and access the template file for a procedure. Fill in the blanks on the form and give it to the controller to be entered into the corporate procedures database. The blanks on the form include the following areas:



	 
	

1. Purpose and Scope. List the reason for the procedure and specify who is expected to use it.

2. Definitions. Describe any words used in the procedure that readers may not be familiar with.

3. Responsibilities. List the employee positions that are responsible for completing various steps in the procedure.

4. Procedures. List all the steps in the procedure. The level of detail should be sufficient for a user to complete the described steps without having to ask for additional assistance.

5. References. Note any related procedures or documents that the user should refer to that will help in understanding this procedure.

6. Records. Note where the documents (if any) resulting from this procedure are to be stored, as well as where documents needed for it are located.

7. Governing Policies. List the policies that set boundaries for activities described in this procedure.







	3.2 WRITER
	Review Document



	 
	Issue the preliminary procedure document back to all employees who are involved with the activities described within it, and ask them to review its content. Be sure to specify a due date.



	3.3 WRITER
	Enter Adjustments



	 
	Once the revised procedure document is returned, enter all adjustments into the database, print the final version, and release it to all personnel who are listed on the approved distribution list. Put a hard copy of the new procedure in the master procedures manual.





Exhibit 1.4 How to Change an Existing Procedure Statement




	Policy/Procedure Statement
	Retrieval No.:
	PROC-02
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	Page:
	1 of 1



	Issue Date:
	10/28/0X



	Supersedes:
	N/A



	Subject: How to Change an Existing Procedure
	 
	 



	1. PURPOSE AND SCOPE



	This procedure is used to facilitate an orderly change in an existing procedure.



	2. RESPONSIBILITIES



	USER
	Procedure User
	 



	WRITER
	Staff Writer
	 



	3. PROCEDURES



	3.1 USER
	Copy the Procedure



	 
	Fill out the procedure change notice and make any changes to the procedure. Alternatively, obtain a hard copy of the existing procedure and mark any changes directly onto it in red ink.



	3.2 USER
	Turn in the Request Form



	 
	Turn in the request form to the procedure writer. Keep a copy for your records in case the original is mislaid.



	3.3 WRITER
	Input Data Changes



	 
	Enter the requested changes to the procedure. Give the rough draft to the user who requested the change and ask that it be proofed for errors. When the procedure is returned, make any additional changes and print out the final version.



	3.4 WRITER
	Distribute the Procedure



	 
	Release the procedure to all employees who are on the distribution list for this procedure. File a copy of the revised procedure in the master procedures manual. Exhibit 1.4






Chapter 2

GENERAL ACCOUNTING MANUAL

2.1 INTRODUCTION

The general accounting manual is intended for the use of the accounting staff, both at the headquarters location and at any outlying locations that may have somewhat less broad-based accounting functionality. It may also be requested by internal and external auditors, who use it as input to their decisions to test the level of control on various types of company transactions. In rare cases, it may also be used as evidence in legal disputes, such as when a company must prove its level of controls if accused under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act.

The manual is most efficiently produced if it is printed in a single standard format, rather than being subdivided for people or locations having limited accounting responsibilities. However, in situations where the number of documented transactions is excessively large, it may make sense to separate the documents into orderly groupings for specific recipients so that a limited number of standard manuals can be issued, rather than a complete set.

There are a variety of documents that may be included in the general accounting manual. The decision to include or exclude a document should, to some degree, be based on the number of times that documents are needed. For example, if an assistant controller is constantly being pestered with questions about what account codes to use for various transactions, then it makes sense to include a set of standard journal entries in the manual. However, if information is constantly being revised, then it should be distributed separately, rather than being contained within the manual. For example, a company phone list should be updated separately, as employee departures and new hires will call for ongoing updates. Another reason for including information in the manual is that it is part of a new employee’s training. For example, a transaction that describes the basic entry of accounts payable invoices into the computer system is useful to a new hire, even though this may become second nature within a week and will never be used again. This type of document needs to be included simply as a reference for those employees whose skill levels are still ramping up.

The contents of the general accounting manual usually include the chart of accounts, because this is a useful reference tool for making general ledger entries. It should also include accounting term definitions; these may be standard terms found in any accounting text, but should also include terms noted in a company’s accounting software package so that new users of the system will understand the meaning of particular data entry fields. The manual should also include job descriptions for all accounting positions so that each person knows his or her responsibilities. There should also be an activities calendar for each position, which is an extremely useful way to keep the accounting staff informed of their duties on particular days of the month. Another useful addition is a complete set of corporate policies that apply to the accounting department. This information is usually supplemented by an overview of all key process cycles and their supporting procedures, which typically form the bulk of the manual. These documents give users crucial information about what transactions are allowed, how they fit into the greater scheme of linked procedures throughout the company, and how each procedure must be completed. The following sections describe the contents of each section of the general accounting manual.

2.2 CHART OF ACCOUNTS1

This section covers the types of account numbering formats that can be used to construct a chart of accounts, and also lists sample charts of accounts that use each of the formats. All of the charts of accounts shown follow the same general sequence of account coding, which itemizes the accounts in the balance sheet first, and the income statement second. That sequence is as follows:


	Current assets

	Fixed assets

	Other assets

	Current liabilities

	Long-term liabilities

	Equity accounts

	Revenue

	Cost of goods sold

	Selling, general, and administrative expenses

	Income taxes

	Extraordinary items



(a) Three-Digit Account Code Structure

A three-digit account code structure allows one to create a numerical sequence of accounts that contains up to 1,000 potential accounts. It is useful for small businesses that have no predefined departments or divisions that must be broken out separately. A sample chart of accounts using this format is shown below:



	Account Number
	Description



	010
	Cash



	020
	Petty cash



	030
	Accounts receivable



	040
	Reserve for bad debts



	050
	Marketable securities



	060
	Raw materials inventory



	070
	Work-in-process inventory



	080
	Finished goods inventory



	090
	Reserve for obsolete inventory



	100
	Fixed assets—Computer equipment



	110
	Fixed assets—Computer software



	120
	Fixed assets—Furniture and fixtures



	130
	Fixed assets—Leasehold improvements



	140
	Fixed assets—Machinery



	150
	Accumulated depreciation—Computer equipment



	160
	Accumulated depreciation—Computer software



	170
	Accumulated depreciation—Furniture and fixtures



	180
	Accumulated depreciation—Leasehold improvements



	190
	Accumulated depreciation—Machinery



	200
	Other assets



	300
	Accounts payable



	310
	Accrued payroll liability



	320
	Accrued vacation liability



	330
	Accrued expenses liability—Other



	340
	Unremitted sales taxes



	350
	Unremitted pension payments



	360
	Short-term notes payable



	370
	Other short-term liabilities



	400
	Long-term notes payable



	500
	Capital stock



	510
	Retained earnings



	600
	Revenue



	700
	Cost of goods sold—Materials



	710
	Cost of goods sold—Direct labor



	720
	Cost of goods sold—Manufacturing supplies



	730
	Cost of goods sold—Applied overhead



	800
	Bank charges



	805
	Benefits



	810
	Depreciation



	815
	Insurance



	825
	Office supplies



	830
	Salaries and wages



	835
	Telephones



	840
	Training



	845
	Travel and entertainment



	850
	Utilities



	855
	Other expenses



	860
	Interest expense



	900
	Extraordinary items




Notice how each clearly definable block of accounts begins with a different set of account numbers. For example, current liabilities begin with “300,” revenues begin with “600,” and cost of goods sold items begin with “700.” This not only makes it easier to navigate through the chart of accounts, but is also mandated by many computerized accounting software packages.

(b) Five-Digit Account Code Structure

A five-digit account code structure is designed for those organizations with clearly defined departments, each of which is tracked with a separate income statement. This format uses the same account codes for the balance sheet accounts that we just saw for three-digit account codes, but replicates at least the operating expenses for each department (and sometimes for the revenue accounts, too). An example of this format is as follows, using the engineering and sales departments to illustrate the duplication of accounts:



	Account Number
	Department
	Description



	00-010
	xxx
	Cash



	00-020
	xxx
	Petty cash



	00-030
	xxx
	Accounts receivable



	00-040
	xxx
	Reserve for bad debts



	00-050
	xxx
	Marketable securities



	00-060
	xxx
	Raw materials inventory



	00-070
	xxx
	Work-in-process inventory



	00-080
	xxx
	Finished goods inventory



	00-090
	xxx
	Reserve for obsolete inventory



	00-100
	xxx
	Fixed assets—Computer equipment



	00-110
	xxx
	Fixed assets—Computer software



	00-120
	xxx
	Fixed assets—Furniture and fixtures



	00-130
	xxx
	Fixed assets—Leasehold improvements



	00-140
	xxx
	Fixed assets—Machinery



	00-150
	xxx
	Accumulated depreciation—Computer equipment



	00-160
	xxx
	Accumulated depreciation—Computer software



	00-170
	xxx
	Accumulated depreciation—Furniture and fixtures



	00-180
	xxx
	Accumulated depreciation—Leasehold improvements



	00-190
	xxx
	Accumulated depreciation—Machinery



	00-200
	xxx
	Other assets



	00-300
	xxx
	Accounts payable



	00-310
	xxx
	Accrued payroll liability



	00-320
	xxx
	Accrued vacation liability



	00-330
	xxx
	Accrued expenses liability—Other



	00-340
	xxx
	Unremitted sales taxes



	00-350
	xxx
	Unremitted pension payments



	00-360
	xxx
	Short-term notes payable



	00-370
	xxx
	Other short-term liabilities



	00-400
	xxx
	Long-term notes payable



	00-500
	xxx
	Capital stock



	00-510
	xxx
	Retained earnings



	00-600
	xxx
	Revenue



	00-700
	xxx
	Cost of goods sold—Materials



	00-710
	xxx
	Cost of goods sold—Direct labor



	00-720
	xxx
	Cost of goods sold—Manufacturing supplies



	00-730
	xxx
	Cost of goods sold—Applied overhead



	10-800
	Engineering
	Bank charges



	10-805
	Engineering
	Benefits



	10-810
	Engineering
	Depreciation



	10-815
	Engineering
	Insurance



	10-825
	Engineering
	Office supplies



	10-830
	Engineering
	Salaries and wages



	10-835
	Engineering
	Telephones



	10-840
	Engineering
	Training



	10-845
	Engineering
	Travel and entertainment



	10-850
	Engineering
	Utilities



	10-855
	Engineering
	Other expenses



	10-860
	Engineering
	Interest expense



	20-800
	Sales
	Bank charges



	20-805
	Sales
	Benefits



	20-810
	Sales
	Depreciation



	20-815
	Sales
	Insurance



	20-825
	Sales
	Office supplies



	20-830
	Sales
	Salaries and wages



	20-835
	Sales
	Telephones



	20-840
	Sales
	Training



	20-845
	Sales
	Travel and entertainment



	20-850
	Sales
	Utilities



	20-855
	Sales
	Other expenses



	20-860
	Sales
	Interest expense



	00-900
	xxx
	Extraordinary items




In this example, all expense accounts are replicated for every department. This does not mean, however, that all accounts must be used for every department. For example, it is most unlikely that bank charges will be ascribed to either the engineering or sales departments. Accordingly, those accounts that are not to be used can be rendered inactive in the accounting system so that they never appear in the general ledger.

(c) Seven-Digit Account Code Structure

A seven-digit account code structure is used by those companies that not only have multiple departments, but also multiple divisions or locations, for each of which the management team wants to record separate accounting information. This requires the same coding structure used for the five-digit system, except that two digits are placed in front of the code to signify a different company division. These new digits also apply to balance sheet accounts, because most organizations will want to track assets and liabilities by division. The following chart of accounts, which identifies accounts for divisions in Atlanta and Seattle, continues to use the engineering and sales departments as an example of how the seven-digit account code structure is compiled.
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Any of the preceding account codes will be eventually used in a journal entry, for which a standard form should be used such as the one shown in Exhibit 2.1. The form requires both an approval signature and description of the entry, thereby ensuring adequate documentation and evidence that the entry is necessary. There is also space at the bottom of the entry for references to additional exchange rate information, in case foreign exchange is involved.


Exhibit 2.1 Journal Entry Form

[image: Image]


2.3 ACCOUNTING TERM DEFINITIONS

Though it is not necessary to include an entire dictionary of accounting terms in the general accounting manual, it is useful to include those that are commonly used within the company’s transactions, as well as those that appear in its accounting software. Of particular importance are those terms that are unique to the industry within which the company operates. For example, the oil and gas, software, and movie industries have special terminology that cannot be learned through regular accounting classes.

Definitions should be concise and meaningful. One or two sentences of definition are usually sufficient. Because the definitions are references sources, they should be developed for quick and easy look-up. For example, the definition for “fixed asset” may be listed under “A,” using the header “Asset, fixed.” If a user goes to the “F” section of the definitions, there should be a referral statement, such as “Fixed asset, see Asset, fixed. This standard indexing method should make it as easy as possible to find a specific definition. An example of a series of accounting term definitions is as follows:2

Backflushing. A method for recognizing incurred costs from the production process that records transactions at the point when production is completed, rather than when materials are released from the warehouse area.

Batch cost. A cost that is incurred when a group of products or services are produced, and which cannot be identified to specific products or services within each group.

Benchmarking. The process of comparing a company’s processes and outputs to those of other organizations to determine the “best of class,” which a company can then emulate internally to improve its profitability, efficiency, or competitive position.

Bill of materials. A listing of the quantities of all parts and subassemblies that comprise a product. It frequently includes additional information, such as the standard scrap rate to be expected when using each component. It is of great value for a number of applications, such as backflushing and product costing.

Book inventory. The amount of money invested in inventory, as per a company’s accounting records. It is comprised of the beginning inventory balance, plus the cost of any receipts, less the cost of sold or scrapped inventory. It may be significantly different from the actual on-hand inventory, if the two are not periodically reconciled.

Book value. An asset’s original cost, less any depreciation that has been subsequently incurred.

By-product, see Joint production.

A different approach to the inclusion of accounting term definitions in the manual is to define every account listed in the chart of accounts. By doing so, any accounting personnel who are responsible for entering transactions into either the general ledger or its supporting journals will have a better idea of which accounts should be used. This can save a great deal of time later on, when incorrectly applied transactions must be researched and corrected. The following sample definitions are used for the three-digit sample chart of accounts that was described earlier in this chapter.



	Account Number
	Name
	Definition



	010
	Cash
	Money deposited at the bank. If there are restrictions on deposited cash, then it is accounted for as a long-term asset.



	020
	Petty cash
	Money retained in the petty cash box.



	030
	Accounts receivable
	Money due from customers for services received or products shipped, but not yet received. If there are amounts due from officers or employees, these moneys are listed under “other accounts receivable.”



	040
	Reserve for bad debts
	A reserve fund that is held as a contingency against the nonpayment of outstanding accounts receivable. This account should always have a credit balance.



	050
	Marketable securities
	Cash that is invested in easily traded equity or debt securities. The cost of acquiring these securities is included in the account.



	060
	Raw materials inventory
	The amount of materials kept on hand for eventual inclusion in finished goods. All freight costs associated with the acquisition of raw materials are included in this account.



	070
	Work-in-process inventory
	The cost of partially completed units of production. Costs stored in this account include raw materials, and any raw materials or overhead used to date.



	080
	Finished goods inventory
	The cost of completed products that have not yet been shipped to customers. Costs stored in this account include all raw materials, direct labor, and overhead used during the production process.



	090
	Reserve for obsolete inventory
	A reserve fund that is held as a contingency against the eventual write-off of any types of inventory that no longer have a resale value.



	100
	Fixed assets—Computer equipment
	Purchased computer equipment exceeding the corporate capitalization limit that has an expected life of greater than one year.



	110
	Fixed assets—Computer software
	Purchased computer software exceeding the corporate capitalization limit that has an expected life of greater than one year.



	120
	Fixed assets—Furniture and fixtures
	Purchased furniture exceeding the corporate capitalization limit that has an expected life of greater than one year.



	130
	Fixed assets—Leasehold improvements
	Improvements made by the company to its leased properties, exceeding the corporate capitalization limit, that has an expected life of greater than one year.



	140
	Fixed assets—Machinery
	Purchased production equipment exceeding the corporate capitalization limit that has an expected life of greater than one year.



	150
	Accumulated depreciation—Computer equipment
	The total of all depreciation charged against the computer equipment fixed asset account, net of disposed assets. This account has a credit balance.



	160
	Accumulated depreciation—Computer software
	The total of all depreciation charged against the computer software fixed asset account, net of disposed assets. This account has a credit balance.



	170
	Accumulated depreciation—Furniture and fixtures
	The total of all depreciation charged against the furniture and fixtures fixed asset account, net of disposed assets. This account has a credit balance.



	180
	Accumulated depreciation—Leasehold improvements
	The total of all depreciation charged against the leasehold improvement fixed asset account, net of disposed assets. This account has a credit balance.



	190
	Accumulated depreciation—Machinery
	The total of all depreciation charged against the machinery fixed asset account, net of disposed assets. This account has a credit balance.



	200
	Other assets
	An account in which minor asset items are stored that do not fit into any other asset account categories.



	300
	Accounts payable
	Both billed and accrued commitments to pay suppliers for services rendered or products shipped to the company.



	310
	Accrued payroll liability
	An obligation to pay wages to employees, but which has not yet been paid.



	320
	Accrued vacation liability
	An obligation to pay for earned vacation time to employees, but which has not yet been paid.



	330
	Accrued expenses liability—Other
	An account in which minor accrued expenses are stored, or those accrued expenses are stored, that do not occur on a recurring basis.



	340
	Unremitted sales taxes
	Sales taxes to government entities that are a company obligation to make as a result of selling products or services into the geographic areas governed by those entities, but which have not yet been made.



	350
	Unremitted pension payments
	Pensions payments that are an obligation of the company to make into the employee pension fund, but which have not yet been made.



	360
	Short-term notes payable
	Debt obligations that are due for payment in less than one year.



	370
	Other short-term liabilities
	An account in which minor liability items are stored that do not fit into any other liability account categories.



	400
	Long-term notes payable
	Debt obligations that are due for payment in more than one year.



	500
	Capital stock
	The amount of funds received from investors in exchange for the issuance of common or preferred stock.



	510
	Retained earnings
	Total corporate earnings since the creation of the company, less dividends and any prior period adjustments.



	600
	Revenue
	The sale of products or services, or receipts from investments, such as interest, royalties, or dividends.



	700
	Cost of goods sold—Materials
	The direct cost of materials associated with the sale of a tangible product. This includes all materials listed on a product’s bill of materials, plus all scrap incurred during production, less the resale value of any by-products.



	710
	Cost of goods sold—Direct labor
	The labor expense required to produce a product or service, which is limited to assembly labor.



	720
	Cost of goods sold—Manufacturing supplies
	The cost of supplies consumed when a product is manufactured. This includes all incidental machinery maintenance supplies and packaging materials.



	730
	Cost of goods sold—Applied overhead
	The cost of manufacturing, excluding materials, direct labor, and supplies. Includes depreciation on manufacturing equipment and facilities, as well as factory administration, indirect labor, maintenance, production employees’ benefits, quality control and inspection, production facility rent, repair expenses, rework labor, and spoilage.



	800
	Bank charges
	The expense associated with credit card fees, bank service charges, and the cost of printing checks.



	805
	Benefits
	The expense associated with medical insurance, dental insurance, long-term and short-term disability insurance, and health club reimbursement fees. All employee payroll deductions to co-pay benefits should be credited against this account.



	810
	Depreciation
	The expense associated with the periodic reduction of the value of fixed assets, in accordance with a standard value-reduction methodology.



	815
	Insurance
	The expense associated with key-man life insurance, business insurance, and workers’ compensation insurance.



	825
	Office supplies
	The expense associated with miscellaneous tangible office purchases, such as paper products, printer cartridges, and diskettes.



	830
	Salaries and wages
	The expense associated with employee pay, which includes salaries, wages, severance payments, signing bonuses, and accrued wages.



	835
	Telephones
	The expense associated with “800” phone service, incoming phone lines, and cell phones. The cost of phone equipment is charged either to office supplies or to fixed assets, depending upon the dollar-value purchased.



	840
	Training
	The expense associated with outsourced training suppliers, tests, and purchased training materials. It does not include travel costs associated with employee travel to training classes, nor the salary cost of inhouse training personnel.



	845
	Travel and entertainment
	The expense associated with the travel of either employees or reimbursed contractors. Includes air fare, lodging, parking, and meals.



	850
	Utilities
	The expense associated with water, heat, waste removal, and electricity fees charged by utilities.



	855
	Other expenses
	Includes all incidental expenses under $500 that do not readily fall into any other category. Consult with the assistant controller before making entries into this account.



	860
	Interest expense
	The expense associated with the interest cost of revolving debt, interest on late payments to suppliers, and outstanding company bonds. Also includes accrued interest on unpaid interest expenses.



	900
	Extraordinary items
	Any expense that is both unusual and infrequent, such as a gain on a troubled debt restructuring or the loss of foreign assets due to governmental expropriation. No entries to this account are allowed without the controller’s approval.




Other definitions for accounts that are commonly used by the accounting staff include:

Travel and Subsistence


	Meals and lodging. Includes meals and lodging costs (hotel, motel, etc.) in accordance with company policy for reimbursement. Per diem allowances for meals and lodging are included here.

	Travel in private vehicle. Includes travel in employee-owned vehicles at the currently approved mileage reimbursement rate.

	Travel in rented vehicle. Includes daily car rental fees from outside providers.

	Travel in public carrier. Includes air, bus, and train travel.

	Travel in motor pool vehicles. Includes charges for the use of company-owned vehicles at the approved rates. Costs of air travel for the company-owned air plane are included here.

	Other travel costs. Includes such incidental expenses as tips, telephone calls, taxis, tolls, and parking while on a company-authorized trip. Tips on meals are included in meal costs.

	Conference and registration fees. Includes registration fees for seminars, work shops, conferences, and similar meetings. Tuition for schools and workshops is included here. If meals and lodging fees included in registration fees cannot be separated, then they are included here.



Communications


	Postage. Includes postage charges for mailing, as well as service and rental fees for postage machines, and periodic service fees charged by online postage providers.

	Express postage. Includes all freight costs for express delivery services, including pickup fees.

	Cell phones. Includes the basic monthly fees, as well as roaming charges, for all issued cell phones.

	Telephone local service. Includes the basic monthly charges for all phones.

	Telephone long distance. Includes the charges for all long distance services, including the WATS line, line rentals, and telegraph charges.

	Telephone installation and maintenance. Includes all charges for the installation of phones and subsequent maintenance of the phone system.



Marketing


	Advertising. Includes the cost of classified advertising for employee hiring, as well as required advertising for published purchasing bids.

	Publicity and public information. Includes the cost of radio, television, and live shows promoting the company, as well as related layout and copy costs.



Rents


	Rental of buildings and floor space. Includes payments to others for buildings, rooms for events, and floor space in buildings for special events. Rental of housing facilities and meeting rooms is included here.

	Rental of computer equipment. Includes the rental or lease cost of computer software and equipment, such as payments on operating leases.

	Other rentals. Includes any rental that cannot be recorded in other rental accounts.



Repairs and Maintenance


	Repairs, streets and parking. Includes repairs and other maintenance on roads, streets, drives, and parking lots.

	Repairs, building and grounds. Includes wages and material costs of repairing, cleaning, and maintaining buildings and grounds. Outside contractor costs for this purpose are recorded here.

	Repairs, office equipment. Includes the costs of repairing and maintaining office equipment such as furniture, copiers, and facsimile machines. It does not include maintenance on the phone system.

	Maintenance contracts, equipment. Includes the annual contract costs for maintenance contracts on office equipment.

	Repairing and servicing other equipment. Includes the costs of repairing and servicing machinery, engineering equipment, laboratory equipment, shop equipment, and other equipment not classified in the preceding repair accounts.



Fees, Professional


	Engineering fees. Includes out-of-pocket fees for professional engineering services.

	Auditing fees. Includes the costs of auditing fees to outside independent auditors. Other incidental costs of the audit, such as supplies, telephone, postage and printing charges related to the audit, are included here.

	Medical fees. Includes direct payments to others for medical services, including preemployment physicals and lab tests.

	Legal fees. Includes all fees paid to attorneys, appraisers, notaries, and witnesses, in addition to court costs and legal document recording fees.

	Laboratory and testing fees. Includes outside laboratory fees and fees paid to outside agencies for testing services other than medical services.

	Consultant expense reimbursements. Includes travel costs paid to consultants and other nonemployees.



Other Contractual Services


	Insurance and fidelity bonds. Includes the cost of all casualty and liability insurance and fidelity bond coverages.

	Dues. Includes approved dues for company memberships in professional organizations.

	Subscriptions. Includes the cost of subscriptions to newspapers, magazines, and periodicals.

	Computer software acquisitions. Includes the initial cost of acquiring operating or systems software packages. Included is the purchase price, related freight, and software manuals.

	Computer software maintenance. Includes the annual maintenance fees to maintain purchased software systems.



Maintenance Supplies


	Land improvement supplies. Includes asphalt, cement, joint fillers, curbing, and so forth used in repairing or replacing roads, sidewalks, and parking lots on company property.

	Building construction supplies. Includes lumber, caulking, steel, fabricated metal parts, flooring, ceiling tiles, plaster, lime, and other materials used in repairing or renovating buildings.

	Paints and preservatives. Includes interior and exterior paints, wood preservatives, and road striping materials used for remodeling or maintenance.

	Hardware, plumbing, and electrical supplies. Includes all hardware, plumbing parts and accessories, and electrical wire or parts, including lights used in maintaining or renovating buildings.

	Custodial supplies and cleaning agents. Includes all custodial supplies of an expendable nature, such as cloths, brooms, cleaning compounds, mops, or pails.



Office Supplies


	Printing, binding, and padding. Includes the cost of printing, binding, and padding paid to outside contractors.

	Duplication and reproduction. Includes the paper, toner, and other supplies used in the company copy machines.

	Office supplies. Includes all office supplies and materials, such as pens, paper, pencils, staples, paper clips, and so forth.



Equipment Supplies


	Fuels. Includes vehicle fuels (gasoline, diesel fuel, propane) purchased for motor pool vehicles or airplanes.

	Lubricating oils and greases. Includes lubricating oils and greases used for all vehicles and machinery.

	Tires and tubes. Includes the purchase of tires and tubes for all vehicles in the company motor pool.

	Repair and replacement parts. Includes the purchase of vehicle and machinery repair and replacement parts and supplies.

	Shop supplies. Includes the cost of shop supplies, such as shop rags, windshield cleaner, glues and cements, brushes, degreasers, solvents, and so forth, used in equipment repair and maintenance operations.

	Small tools. Includes small tools used in manufacturing operations that are below the corporate capitalization limit.



2.4 JOB DESCRIPTIONS

A key management task is determining who is responsible for each task. Otherwise there is no way to control the flow of activities or know who should be contacted about fixing problems. The typical departmental structure typically includes one or more assistant controllers reporting to the controller, each of whom is responsible for a selected set of functional areas, such as accounts payable and accounts receivable, or cost accounting and the general ledger. Below these personnel are a number of accountants and clerks. Within these reporting relationships, it is necessary to define the exact job description of each position, which should be included in the general accounting manual. The format used for each job description should identify a position by title, rather than by the name of the person currently holding the job, so that the manual does not have to be changed every time a person switches positions. Here are examples of job descriptions that should be included:



	Controller3
	 



	Reports to: Chief Financial Officer
	 



	Responsibilities
	Timing



	Accounting
	 



	Assist in the annual audit as required
	Annual



	Develop accounting policies and procedures
	Ongoing



	Ensure that accounts payable are paid on time
	Daily



	Ensure that accounts receivable are collected promptly
	Daily



	Ensure that all economical payable discounts are taken
	Daily



	Ensure that billings are issued promptly
	Daily



	Ensure that job costs are calculated
	Ongoing



	Ensure that bank reconciliations are completed
	Monthly



	Issue financial statements
	Monthly



	Maintain an orderly accounting filing system
	Ongoing



	Maintain the chart of accounts
	Ongoing



	Manage outsourced functions
	Ongoing



	Manage the accounting staff
	Ongoing



	Manage the budgeting process
	Annual



	Prepare the annual budget
	Annual



	Process payroll in a timely manner
	Bi-weekly



	Provide financial analyses as needed
	Ongoing



	Review systems for control weaknesses
	Ongoing



	Finance
	 



	Arrange for banking services
	Ongoing



	Arrange for debt financing
	Ongoing



	Conduct public offerings
	As needed



	Invest excess cash
	Daily



	Invest pension funds
	Monthly



	Issue credit to customers
	As needed



	Maintain insurance coverage
	Annual



	Maintain lender relations
	Ongoing



	Manage the finance staff
	Daily



	Monitor cash balances
	Daily






	Assistant Controller, Transactions
	 



	Reports to: Controller
	 



	Responsibilities
	Timing



	Manage the accounts payable process
	Ongoing



	Manage the accounts receivable process
	Ongoing



	Manage the payroll process
	Ongoing



	Use best practices to increase transactional efficiency
	Ongoing



	Take all viable supplier discounts
	Weekly



	Ensure that payments are authorized and accompanying
	Daily



	deliveries are received prior to payment
	 



	Issue invoices to customers in a timely manner
	Daily



	Obtain payment from customers in a timely manner
	Daily



	Create an efficient time keeping system
	Ongoing



	Issue payments to employees in a timely manner
	Bi-weekly



	Make payroll tax payments in a timely manner
	Monthly






	Assistant Controller, Financial Reporting
	 



	Reports to: Controller
	 



	Responsibilities
	Timing



	Create financial statements
	Monthly



	Create footnotes to financial statements
	Monthly



	Create SEC reports
	Quarterly



	Monitor changes in generally accepted accounting principles
	Ongoing



	Present financial results to the management team
	Monthly



	Create systems for efficient reporting process
	Ongoing



	Create the annual budget
	Annual



	Create internal management reports
	Ongoing






	Assistant Controller, Cost and Tax Accounting
	 



	Reports to: Controller
	 



	Responsibilities
	Timing



	Manage the cost and taxation staff
	Ongoing



	Devise tax strategies
	Ongoing



	Create tax data collection systems
	As needed



	Complete required tax forms in a timely manner
	As needed



	Update the company sales tax database as tax rates change
	As needed



	Negotiate with tax authorities over tax payment issues
	As needed



	Review adequacy of costing systems
	Quarterly



	Report on costing variances
	Monthly



	Report on overhead allocation variances
	Monthly



	Report on margins and break-even points
	Monthly



	Report on capital budgeting requests
	Ongoing



	Assist in development of the budget
	Annual



	Analyze new product margins
	Ongoing






	Accounts Payable Clerk
	 



	Reports to: Assistant Controller, Transactions
	 



	Responsibilities
	Timing



	Match supplier invoices to purchase orders and receiving documents
	Daily



	Take all viable supplier discounts
	Daily



	Obtain approvals for supplier invoices
	Daily



	Pay supplier invoices when due
	Weekly



	Research supplier requests for payment
	As needed






	Billings Clerk
	 



	Reports to: Assistant Controller, Transactions
	 



	Responsibilities
	Timing



	Issue invoices to customers
	Daily



	Contact customers about overdue invoices
	Daily



	Issue monthly customer statements
	Monthly



	Resolve billing discrepancies with customers
	As needed



	Process cash receipts
	Daily



	Recommend bad debt write-offs
	As needed






	Payroll Clerk
	 



	Reports to: Assistant Controller, Transactions
	 



	Responsibilities
	Timing



	Collect time cards from employees
	Weekly



	Obtain supervisory approval of time card discrepancies
	Weekly



	Obtain overtime approvals
	Weekly



	Process garnishment requests
	As needed



	Process employee advances and paybacks
	As needed



	Print and issue paychecks
	Bi-weekly



	Issue direct deposit tapes to the bank
	Bi-weekly



	Deposit payroll taxes
	Monthly






	General Ledger Accountant
	 



	Reports to: Assistant Controller, Financial Reporting
	 



	Responsibilities
	Timing



	Create a system of recurring journal entries
	Annual



	Calculate and enter all adjusting journal entries
	Monthly



	Provide detailed analysis of accounts to auditors
	Annual



	Create financial statements
	Monthly



	Assist in writing footnotes to financial statements
	Monthly



	Assist in completing SEC reports
	Quarterly






	Financial Analyst
	 



	Reports to: Assistant Controller, Financial Reporting
	 



	Responsibilities
	Timing



	Provide analysis of investment vehicles
	Ongoing



	Review financing options
	Ongoing



	Review capital expenditure proposals
	Ongoing



	Review acquisition candidates
	Ongoing



	Provide ratio analysis of company results
	Monthly






	Tax Accountant
	 



	Reports to: Assistant Controller, Cost and Tax Accounting
	 



	Responsibilities
	Timing



	Devise tax strategies for management approval
	Ongoing



	Create tax data collection systems
	As needed



	Complete required tax forms in a timely manner
	As needed



	Update the company sales tax database as tax rates change
	As needed



	Manage audits by taxation authorities
	As needed



	Negotiate with tax authorities over tax payment issues
	As needed






	Cost Accountant4
	 



	Reports to: Assistant Controller, Cost and Tax Accounting
	 



	Responsibilities
	Timing



	System Tasks
	 



	Review adequacy of activity-based costing system
	Quarterly



	Review adequacy of data collection systems
	Quarterly



	Review system costs and benefits
	Quarterly



	Audit costing systems
	Monthly



	Analysis and Reporting Tasks
	 



	Report on product target costing variances
	Monthly



	Report on activity-based costing overhead allocations
	Monthly



	Report on break-even points by product and division
	Monthly



	Report on margins by product and division
	Monthly



	Report on periodic variance analyses
	Monthly



	Report on special topics as assigned
	Ongoing



	Report on capital budgeting requests
	Ongoing



	Assist in development of the budget
	Annual



	Pricing Tasks
	 



	Work with marketing staff to update product pricing
	Ongoing






	Bookkeeper
	 



	Reports to: Company Owner
	 



	Responsibilities
	Timing



	Calculate attendance bonus
	Bi-weekly



	Close software modules following the monthly close
	Monthly



	Compile 401 (k) census information
	Annual



	Complete bank reconciliation
	Monthly



	Conduct job costing
	Ongoing



	Create financial statements
	Monthly



	Cut manual checks and enter them into the computer
	Ongoing



	Enter accounts payable into compute and cut checks
	Weekly



	Enter time cards and pay rate changes into computer
	Weekly



	Issue 401 (k) payments to mutual fund
	Monthly



	Issue paychecks
	Bi-weekly



	Match accounts payable documents
	Daily



	Post accounts receivable payments
	Daily



	Process employee expenses
	Ongoing



	Reconcile petty cash
	Monthly



	Store backup information on fixed assets
	Ongoing



	Track warranty expense detail
	Ongoing




Note that the last job description presented, the bookkeeper, was independent of the hierarchical structure assumed for all of the preceding positions. Rather than reporting to someone else in the accounting or finance department, this person usually reports directly to the business owner, because a bookkeeper is usually only used in very small businesses which only need one or two accounting positions.

2.5 ACTIVITIES CALENDAR

The general accounting manual can also include a set of activities calendars. This is a listing of what special events occur on certain days of the year, such as tax report submissions or investor letters. It is extremely useful as a memory jogger so that the accounting staff does not forget to complete certain nonrepetitive key activities. There is usually a summary-level activities calendar for the entire year; dates from this calendar are then transferred to a monthly calendar that is more detailed in nature, and which contains events that tend to be more repetitive within the month. These calendars may be split up by job position so that each person in the department has an uncluttered view of his or her responsibilities over the course of the year. Examples of annual and monthly activities calendars are shown in Exhibits 2.2 and 2.3

2.6 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A policy can be described as an anticipated or required course of action that is used to guide both present and future decisions. In short, it is a goal. The general outlines of many procedures will be guided by one or more corporate policies. Given the large number of procedures used in the accounting area, one would expect to see a reasonably large list of policies.

A complete set of accounting policies can be listed in the general accounting manual, or individual policies can be placed in the procedures manual near the procedures most closely related to each policy. The author’s preference is to keep the policy list in the general accounting manual for easy access by readers, rather than spreading it out over many pages.


Exhibit 2.2 Annual Activities Calendar
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Exhibit 2.3 Monthly Activities Calendar
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The following list represents a general overview of the types of policies that should be contained within the general accounting manual:

Accounts Payable5


	Any supplier invoice within 5% of the price indicated on the buyer’s purchase order requires no additional authorization to pay.



Document Archival


	Use the following format to determine when to dispose of old records:





	Type of Record
	Retention



	Accounts payable ledgers/schedules
	7 years



	Advertisement for a job opening
	1 year



	Capital stock records
	Permanent



	Checks (canceled)
	7 years



	Deeds, mortgages, bills of sale
	Permanent



	Earnings per week
	3 years



	Financial statements
	Permanent



	General ledgers (year-end)
	Permanent



	Hiring records
	1 year from date record made or personnel action taken, whichever is later



	Insurance/pension/retirement plans
	1 year after termination



	Invoices to customers
	7 years



	Minute books, including bylaws and charter
	Permanent



	Payroll records—Employment data
	3 years from termination



	Physical/medical examinations
	Duration of employment, plus 30 years



	Property records
	Permanent



	Sales and purchase records
	3 years



	Stock and bond certificates (canceled)
	7 years



	Subsidiary ledgers
	7 years



	Tax returns
	Permanent



	Time cards
	3 years




Fixed Assets


	The minimum dollar amount above which expenses are capitalized is $2,000.

	Any member of the management committee can approve an expenditure for amounts of $5,000 or less if the item was already listed in the annual budget.

	Any capital expenditure exceeding $5,000 requires the approval of the president, plus all expenditures not already listed in the annual budget, regardless of the amount.

	Every production machine shall be assigned a salvage value of 25% of the purchase price.



Investments


	Retirement funds shall not be invested in the company’s securities, or those of its subsidiaries or affiliates.

	No more than 10% of invested funds should be invested in any one security.

	No more than 15% of invested funds shall be invested in any one industry.

	The return on investment target for invested funds is to match the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index.

	Investments must be made in marketable securities.

	Investment activity is prohibited in the areas of short sales, puts, calls, straddles, hedges, or margin purchases.



Logistics


	Any items arriving at the receiving dock without a purchase order number will be rejected.



Risk Management6


	The company will obtain insurance only from companies with an A.M. Best rating of at least B++.

	All self-insurance plans will be covered by an umbrella policy that covers all losses exceeding $50,000.

	No insurance may be obtained from captive insurance companies.

	The company must always have current insurance for the following categories, and in the stated amounts:

	Director’s and officer’s insurance, $5 million.

	Commercial property insurance, matching the replacement value of all structures and inventory.

	Business interruption insurance, sufficient for four months of operations.





Travel and Entertainment


	All reimbursements require a receipt.

	Employees must show all receipts for travel advances within one week of travel, or the advance will be considered a salary advance.

	Only coach air fares will be reimbursed.

	There is no movie reimbursement.

	There is no reimbursement for commuting miles.

	There is no reimbursement for lunch mileage.



2.7 PROCESS CYCLE DESCRIPTIONS

The accounting manual typically contains a great many procedures, but does not enumerate how they are linked together to form complete process cycles. A process cycle is the complete set of transactions associated with an activity. Showing a user how a specific procedure is incorporated into a process cycle makes it much easier to understand why the procedure is needed. It is also useful for both external and internal auditors, who can see what controls have been incorporated into specific procedures, and how these controls are linked into the process cycles. Consequently, a summary-level overview of all major process cycles is an extremely useful component of the accounting manual.

An example of a process cycle is the purchasing cycle. This begins with the ordering of goods by the purchasing department, continues with the receipt of those goods by the warehouse staff, and ends with payment for them by the accounts payable staff. Examples of other major process cycles are the billing cycle and order fulfillment cycle. There are also many lesser cycles that have a less pervasive influence throughout a company, such as cycles for quality, maintenance, and contracts.

A key aspect of nearly all process cycles is that the activities associated with them cross over multiple departmental boundaries. Whenever this happens, there is a potential loss of data that can affect the completion of the transactions. To continue with the purchasing cycle example, the purchase order generated by the purchasing department may never arrive at the receiving dock, resulting in the erroneous rejection of materials. Similarly, the received goods may never be entered in the inventory database, resulting in their sitting in a corner unused. Further, the receiving documentation may never be sent to the accounting department, resulting in the nonpayment of supplier billings. Thus, possible failures in the overall process cycles can occur as information moves between departments.

The best way to avoid these problems is for the controller to take over the review of process cycles by regularly examining the points in the cycles where errors are likely to occur. Though this function falls outside the boundaries of most individual departments, the controller is the person most frequently called upon to take on this task, given the accounting department’s familiarity with systems in general and transactions in particular.

This section describes a number of procedures that are commonly used to spot problems in the transfer of information between departments for major process cycles. They are:


	Compare billings to the shipping log.

	Review rush freight.

	Review suppliers with no activity.

	Delete old purchase orders.

	Review suppliers with early payment discounts.

	Review blanket purchase orders.

	Review customers with no activity.

	Review old open orders.

	Review pricing errors.

	Review small orders.





	Policy/Procedure Statement
	Procedure No.:
	701
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	Issue Date:
	10/28/0X



	Revision Date:
	None



	Subject: Monthly Journal Entry Review
	 
	 



	COMPARE BILLINGS TO THE SHIPPING LOG



	1. PURPOSE AND SCOPE



	This procedure is used by the accounts receivable clerk to verify that shipments are matched by the same number of invoices to customers so that no billings are missing or duplicated.



	2. RESPONSIBILITIES



	ACC RECV
	Accounts Receivable Clerk



	3. PROCEDURES



	3.1 ACC RECV
	Obtain the Shipping Log



	 
	Go to the warehouse and make a copy of the shipping log for the previous week. Alternatively (if available), access this information online through the receiving system and print out the shipping log.



	3.2 ACC RECV
	Verify Information



	 
	Match the shipments listed on the shipping log to invoices issued during the same period. Note all exceptions in the shipping log for missing billings. Also, note on invoices any incorrect quantities that were billed, as well as “leftover” invoices for which there is no shipping record.



	3.3 ACC RECV
	Bill for Missing Invoices



	 
	Using the list of shipments for which there are no corresponding invoices, go to the shipping department and obtain bills of lading for the unbilled shipments. If these are not available, determine which freight carrier shipped the items and obtain shipping traces on them. Then create invoices, mail a copy to the customer, and attach the proof of delivery to the company’s copy of the invoice. File the company’s copy in the accounting files.



	3.4 ACC RECV
	Issue Credits for Duplicate Invoices



	 
	Using the list of invoices for which no corresponding shipment is recorded in the shipping log, go back to the company’s copy of these invoices and see if there is any bill of lading or other proof of delivery attached to the invoice. If not, call the shipping department to verify that no such documentation exists there. If not, issue a credit to eliminate these invoices.



	3.5 ACC RECV
	Adjust Incorrect Invoices



	 
	Using the list of invoices for which the quantity of product billed is different from the quantity shipped, go back to the company’s copy of the invoice and check the attached bill of lading to determine the actual quantity shipped. If the quantity is different, verify this with the shipping department, and then either issue a credit (if the quantity billed was too high) or an additional invoice (if the quantity billed was too low).






	Policy/Procedure Statement
	Procedure No.:
	702
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	Issue Date:
	10/28/0X



	Revision Date:
	None



	Subject: Monthly Journal Entry Review
	 
	 



	REVIEW RUSH FREIGHT



	1. PURPOSE AND SCOPE



	This procedure is used by the financial analyst to determine the amount and type of any rush freight services used by a company to either receive or send materials.



	2. RESPONSIBILITIES



	ANALYST
	Financial Analyst



	3. PROCEDURES



	3.1 ANALYST
	Access the Freight Account



	 
	Go to the freight account in the computer for each department. If the total amount for the month is less than $100, ignore the account. Otherwise, write down the total department freight and go to the next step.



	3.2 ANALYST
	Access Detail Freight Amounts



	 
	Go to the accounting software and call up the detail for each freight expenditure. This information should include the date of expenditure, the name of the authorizing person, and the name of the freight carrier.



	3.3 ANALYST
	Summarize Freight Information



	 
	Enter this detailed freight information into the FREIGHT.XLS spreadsheet. List all the freight for each department and summarize the dollar amounts. The totals in this spreadsheet should match the freight expense totals for each department, as noted in the general ledger. List all rush freight charges in bold font; these charges are noted in the underlying expense detail as being either from a rush freight company, or designated as rush freight by a standard freight company.



	3.4 ANALYST
	Distribute Freight Information



	 
	Distribute the freight report to each department manager, as well as the controller and chief operating officer.



	3.5 ANALYST
	Track Freight Expenses on a Graph



	 
	Enter the total freight cost by department on a graph, showing the expense for the last 12 months for each department. The intention in using this chart is to show managers any improvement (or lack thereof) in their management of this expense. Distribute the graph to all department managers, the controller, and the chief operating officer.






	Policy/Procedure Statement
	Procedure No.:
	703
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	Issue Date:
	10/28/0X



	Revision Date:
	None



	Subject: Monthly Journal Entry Review
	 
	 



	REVIEW SUPPLIERS WITH NO ACTIVITY



	1. PURPOSE AND SCOPE



	This procedure is used by the financial analyst to determine which suppliers are no longer used by the company. The logistics manager uses the resulting list to determine which suppliers can be removed from the company database.



	2. RESPONSIBILITIES



	ANALYST
	Financial Analyst



	3. PROCEDURES



	3.1 ANALYST
	Extract Supplier Usage Information



	 
	Go to the accounting software and run an extract file that shows all suppliers currently in the database, as well as the last dates on which the company purchased supplies from them. This is the SUPPLIER extract, which dumps into an Excel file of the same name.



	3.2 ANALYST
	Summarize Supplier Usage Information



	 
	Enter the Excel program and access the SUPPLIER spreadsheet. Sort the records based on the last date on which purchases were made from a supplier. Delete all suppliers from the spreadsheet for whom there are purchase dates within the last two years. Print the remaining list of suppliers on the spreadsheet. This list constitutes those suppliers with whom the company is no longer doing business.



	3.3 ANALYST
	Issue Supplier Report



	 
	Give the supplier spreadsheet report to the purchasing manager, with a request to mark those suppliers who can be deleted from the list, and to return it to the financial analyst.



	3.4 ANALYST
	Delete Suppliers from Database



	 
	Upon receipt of the approved list, go into the Suppliers screen in the accounting software. Call up each supplier record that was marked on the supplier report, and delete each of those suppliers. File the report in the “Deleted Suppliers” folder, which is located in the front of the accounts payable records.






	Policy/Procedure Statement
	Procedure No.:
	704
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	10/28/0X



	Revision Date:
	None



	Subject: Monthly Journal Entry Review
	 
	 



	DELETE OLD PURCHASE ORDERS



	1. PURPOSE AND SCOPE



	This procedure is used by the financial analyst to determine which purchase orders are still open, but are not going to be filled. The logistics manager uses this information to close down old purchase orders.



	2. RESPONSIBILITIES



	ANALYST
	Financial Analyst



	3. PROCEDURES



	3.1 ANALYST
	Extract Open Purchase Order Information



	 
	Go to the accounting software and generate an extract of all open purchase orders in the database. This information dumps into an Excel spreadsheet called PURCHORD and contains each purchase order number, supplier name, date on which it was created, and a flag to indicate if it is a blanket purchase order.



	3.2 ANALYST
	Summarize Purchase Order Information



	 
	Enter the Excel program and access the PURCHORD spreadsheet. Sort the records based on the date of each purchase order. Delete from the spreadsheet all purchase orders for which the creation date is within the last six months. Also delete all purchase orders for which there is a blanket purchase order flag (as these may be open and valid for more than a year). Print the remaining list of purchase orders on the spreadsheet, which should thus include all old orders that may be subject to deletion.



	3.3 ANALYST
	Issue Open Purchase Order Report



	 
	Forward the open purchase order spreadsheet to the purchasing manager, with a request to mark all purchase orders on the list that should be closed and then to return the list to the financial analyst.



	3.4 ANALYST
	Delete Open Purchase Orders



	 
	Upon receipt of the approved list, go into the PURCHASE ORDER screen in the accounting software. Call up each purchase order record that was marked on the report and delete each one. File the report in the “Deleted Purchase Orders” folder, which is located in the front of the accounts payable records.






	Policy/Procedure Statement
	Procedure No.:
	705
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	10/28/0X



	Revision Date:
	None



	Subject: Monthly Journal Entry Review
	 
	 



	REVIEW SUPPLIERS WITH EARLY PAYMENT DISCOUNTS



	1. PURPOSE AND SCOPE



	This procedure is used by the financial analyst to determine how many suppliers currently allow early payment discounts by the company. The logistics manager uses this information to ask suppliers for new or larger discounts.



	2. RESPONSIBILITIES



	ANALYST
	Financial Analyst



	3. PROCEDURES



	3.1 ANALYST
	Extract Discount Information



	 
	Go to the accounting software and select the “Suppliers Extract” option. Select for all suppliers, and extract to an Excel file format.



	3.2 ANALYST
	Sort the Discount Information



	 
	Sort the Excel file on the discount field so that the largest discounts are at the top and the smallest at the bottom.



	3.3 ANALYST
	Issue the Discounts Report



	 
	Print out the report and issue it to the purchasing manager with a standard request to attempt to obtain discounts from more suppliers, as well as to increase the discount amounts from suppliers that already grant them.



	3.4 ANALYST
	Update Discounts Information



	 
	If any changes to discounts are submitted by the purchasing manager, go to the SUPPLIER MASTER screen in the accounting software and update the discount field with the new information for those suppliers needing changes.



	3.5 ANALYST
	Record Discounts Statistics



	 
	Go to the Process_Stats Excel file and enter the total number of supplier discounts for the month into the statistics page.
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	Revision Date:
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	Subject: Monthly Journal Entry Review
	 
	 



	REVIEW BLANKET PURCHASE ORDERS



	1. PURPOSE AND SCOPE



	This procedure is used by the financial analyst to determine how many blanket purchase orders are currently open, and with how many suppliers these are used. The resulting information is used by the logistics manager to increase the number of blanket purchase orders.



	2. RESPONSIBILITIES



	ANALYST
	Financial Analyst



	3. PROCEDURES



	3.1 ANALYST
	Extract Blanket Purchase Order Information



	 
	Go to the accounting software and select the “Blanket Purchase Orders Extract” option. Select for all purchase orders, and extract to an Excel file format.



	3.2 ANALYST
	Sort the Blanket Purchase Order Information



	 
	Access Excel and call up the extract of blanket purchase order information. Format the spreadsheet based on a copy of the last blanket purchase order report that was issued in the previous month. Print the report.



	3.3 ANALYST
	Issue the Blanket Purchase Order Report



	 
	Issue the blanket purchase order report to the purchasing manager with a request to add more blanket purchase orders than are currently recorded. The purchasing manager can enter any new blanket purchase orders directly; there is no need for the financial analyst to do so.



	3.4 ANALYST
	Record Blanket Purchase Order Information



	 
	Go to the Process_Stats Excel file and enter the total number of blanket purchase orders for the month into the statistics page.
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	REVIEW CUSTOMERS WITH NO ACTIVITY



	1. PURPOSE AND SCOPE



	This procedure is used by the financial analyst to determine which customers have not placed orders with the company. The sales manager uses this information to determine which customers can be removed from the customer database.



	2. RESPONSIBILITIES



	ANALYST
	Financial Analyst



	3. PROCEDURES



	3.1 ANALYST
	Extract Customer Information



	 
	Go to the accounting software and select the “Customers Extract” option. Select for all customers, and extract to an Excel file format.



	3.2 ANALYST
	Determine Inactive Customers



	 
	Access Excel and call up the EXTRACT spreadsheet. Sort the report based on activity dates so that the oldest dates are at the top of the report. Review the fields in the report that list the last dates on which the company shipped anything to a customer or received payment from one. If the most recent date in either column is less than two years ago, delete the record. This will leave a list of customers with whom the company has had no business in at least two years.



	3.3 ANALYST
	Report on Inactive Customers



	 
	Print the spreadsheet and issue it to the sales manager with a request to mark those customers who should be deleted from the accounting database.



	3.4 ANALYST
	Delete Inactive Customers



	 
	Once the report is received back from the sales manager, go to the CUSTOMER MASTER screen in the accounting database and delete those customers who have been so marked by the sales manager in the report.



	3.5 ANALYST
	Record Customer Statistics



	 
	Go to the Process_Stats Excel file and enter the total number of inactive customers for the month into the statistics page.
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	REVIEW OLD OPEN ORDERS



	1. PURPOSE AND SCOPE



	This procedure is used by the financial analyst to locate those customer orders that are still open but no longer need to be filled, so that they can be closed down.



	2. RESPONSIBILITIES



	ANALYST
	Financial Analyst



	3. PROCEDURES



	3.1 ANALYST
	Extract Open Orders Information



	 
	Go to the accounting software and select the “Open Orders Extract” option. Select for all open orders, and extract to an Excel file format.



	3.2 ANALYST
	Locate Old Open Orders



	 
	Go to Excel and open the EXTRACT file. Sort it for orders that have been open for at least one month, and delete all but these records.



	3.3 ANALYST
	Report on Old Open Orders



	 
	Add headings to the report, as well as a column for the names of the customer service staff who are responsible for each customer. Print the report and issue it to them, with a note to either close the orders or shift their due dates forward into a future time period.



	3.4 ANALYST
	Close Old Open Orders



	 
	If the customer service staff cannot do so, assist them in closing the orders or shifting their due dates through the ORDER ENTRY screen in the accounting software.



	3.5 ANALYST
	Record Open Order Statistics



	 
	Go to the Process_Stats Excel file and enter the total number of old open orders for the month into the statistics page.
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	Subject: Monthly Journal Entry Review
	 
	 



	REVIEW PRICING ERRORS



	1. PURPOSE AND SCOPE



	This procedure is used by the financial analyst to determine the number of credits issued to customers that are based on pricing problems, and the nature of the pricing errors.



	2. RESPONSIBILITIES



	ANALYST
	Financial Analyst



	3. PROCEDURES



	3.1 ANALYST
	Review Existing Credits



	 
	Go to the accounting software and select the “Invoices Extract” option. Select for all invoices in the previous month, and extract to an Excel file format.



	3.2 ANALYST
	Extract Pricing Error Information



	 
	Sort the Excel file for invoices with credit balances and delete all other invoices from the file. Then search the description field for each remaining credit for wording regarding a pricing error. Retain these records and delete all others. Print the spreadsheet.



	3.3 ANALYST
	Create Pricing Error Report



	 
	Go to the Price_Error Excel spreadsheet and clear out the information in it from the previous month, except for headings and totals. Then enter the new credit information from the extract spreadsheet you just printed. This information includes the credit number, credit amount, customer name, correct price, actual price charged, the differences between the two, the quantity of product to which the incorrect pricing applies, the grand total pricing error, and the initials of the customer service person who made the entry. When finished, print the Price_Error report.



	3.4 ANALYST
	Distribute Report



	 
	Distribute the report to the sales manager, controller, president, and chief operating officer.



	3.5 ANALYST
	Record Pricing Error Statistics



	 
	Go to the process_Stats Excel file and enter the total number of pricing errors for the month into the statistics page.
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	Subject: Monthly Journal Entry Review
	 
	 



	REVIEW SMALL ORDERS



	1. PURPOSE AND SCOPE



	The procedure is used by the financial analyst to determine which customers habitually place small orders. This information is useful in determining pricing changes for customers, or whether some customers should be dropped.



	2. RESPONSIBILITIES



	ANALYST
	Financial Analyst



	3. PROCEDURES



	3.1 ANALYST
	Extract Invoice Information



	 
	Go to the accounting software and select the “Orders Extract” option. Select for all orders in the previous month, and extract to an Excel file format.



	3.2 ANALYST
	Select Small Order Information



	 
	Go to Excel and open the ORDERS EXTRACT file. Sort on the order dollar amount, and delete all records except those that are equal to or less than $500.



	3.3 ANALYST
	Create Report



	 
	Sort the Excel file again by customer name so that the number of small orders for each customer can be easily determined. Then print the report. Go to the Small_Order Excel file, which lists the grand total of small orders by customer for the last year in a grid format, and enter the data from the first spreadsheet into this format. Print the report.



	3.4 ANALYST
	Issue The Report



	 
	Issue the report to the sales manager, controller, president, and chief operating officer.



	3.5 ANALYST
	Update Small Order Statistics



	 
	Go to the Process_Stats Excel file and enter the total number of small orders for the month into the statistics page.




2.8 ACCOUNTING PROCEDURES

It is extremely important to create an environment within the accounting department that results in the consistent processing of all accounting transactions so that resulting financial statements are comparable for all time periods and across all corporate divisions. Another result is error-free transactions that require little ongoing review or correction by the senior accounting staff, which results in a more efficient department. Further, both internal and external auditors will test the accuracy of these transactions from time to time, and will gain a high degree of confidence in the accuracy of company-reported transactions if they are consistently completed. In addition, consistent transaction usage results in better conformance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), so a company will not require restatement of certain transactions for GAAP conformance purposes. For all of these reasons, it is critical to use a standard set of accounting procedures for all regular accounting transactions.

A complete set of accounting procedures may be included within the general accounting manual. However, if the business entity is a large one, there may be so many procedures that they are subdivided by job position or process cycle, and distributed separately.

In the next chapter, we will review the various types of procedures and how they are formatted, as well as examine a checklist of suggested procedures and a number of related examples.

Notes

1Much of this section is from Ultimate Accounts’ Reference, Steven Bragg, copyright ©2006 John Wiley & Sons. This material is used by permission of John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

2Definitions are from Cost Accounting: A Comprehensive Guide, Steven Bragg copyright ©2001 John Wiley & Sons. This material is used by permission of John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

3Source: Controllership: The Work of the Managerial Accountant, 7th Edition, Janice Roehl-Anderson and Steven Bragg, copyright ©2004 John Wiley & Sons. This material is used by permission of John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

4Source: Cost Accounting: A Comprehensive Guide, Steven Bragg, copyright ©2001 John Wiley & Sons. This material is used by permission of John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

5Source: Accounting Best Practices, 2nd Edition, Steven Bragg, copyright ©2001 John Wiley & Sons. This material is used by permission of John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

6The risk management policies are from Controllership: The Work of the Managerial Accountant, 7th Edition, Janice Roehl-Anderson and Steven Bragg, copyright ©2004 John Wiley & Sons. This material is used by permission of John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
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REG | Regular Hours JUR_ | Jury Duty.
OT | Overtime SIC_| Sick Leave
HOL | Holiday VAC_| Vacation Leave
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Date:

7403

Trem Number

Description:

Serapped Sent to Rework
Quantity Scrapped: Quantity to Rework:
Reason: Reason:

Signature: Signature:
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RESPONSIBLE | 2 MONTHS [LAST | WEEK | WEEK |WEEK | WEEK

AisLes | Person Aco MontH |1 2 3 4

AB Fred P. 82% 86% 85% |84% |82% |87%
C-D Alain Q- 70% 2% 74% | 76% | 78% |80%
EF Davis L. 61% 64% 67% | 70% | 73% | 76%
GH Jeff R 54% 58% 62% | 66% | 70% |74%
1J Alice R 12% 7% 22% | 21% |32% |31%
KL George W. 81% 80% 79% | 78% |71% | 76%
MN Robert T. 50% 60% 65% | 70% |80% | 90%
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Account No.  Division Department  Description
10-00-010 Atlanta XXX Cash
Atlanta  xxx Petty cash
Atlanta o Accounts receivable
Atlanta o Reserve for bad debts
Atlanta xxx Marketable securities
Atlanta xxx Raw materials inventory
10-00-070  Atlanta xxx Work-in-process inventory
10-00-080  Atlnta Finished goods inventory
10-00-090 Atlanta o Reserve for obsolete inventory
10-00-100 Atlanta xxx Fixed assets—Computer equipment
10-00-110 Atlanta xxx Fixed assets—Computer software
10-00-120 Atlanta xxx Fixed assets—Furniture and fixtures
10-00-130 Atlanta XXX Fixed assets—Leasehold improvements
10-00-140 Atlanta  xxx Fixed assets—Machinery
10-00-150 Atlanta o Accumulated depreciation—Computer equipment
10-00-160 Atlanta xxx Accumulated depreciation—Computer software
10-00-170 Atlanta xxx Accumulated depreciation—Furniture and fixtures
10-00-180 Atlanta xxx Accumulated depreciation—Leasehold improvements
10-00-190 Atlanta XXX Accumulated depreciation—Machinery
10-00-200 Atlanta XXX Other assets
10-00-300 Atlanta o Accounts payable
10-00-310 Atlanta xxx Accrued payroll liability
10-00-320 Atlanta o Accrued vacation liability
10-00-330 Atlanta xxx Accrued expenses liability—Other
10-00-340 Atlanta xxx Unremitted sales taxes
10-00-350  Atlanta  xxx Unremitted pension payments
10-00-360 Atlanta o Short-term notes payable
10-00-370 Atlanta o Other short-term liabilities
10-00-400 Atlanta xxx Long-term notes payable
10-00-500 Atlanta xxx Capital stock
10-00-510 Atlanta XXX Retained earnings
10-00-600 Atlanta XXX Revenue
10-00-700 Atlanta o Cost of goods sold—Materials
10-00-710 Atlanta o Cost of goods sold—Direct labor
10-00-720 Atlanta xxx Cost of goods sold—Manufacturing supplies
1000730 Atlanta  xx Cost of goods sold—Applied overhead
10-10-800  Atlta  Engineering  Bank charges
10-10-805 Atlanta Engineering  Benefits
10-10-810 Atlanta  Engineering  Depreciation
10-10-815 Atlanta Engineering  Insurance
Atlanta Engineering  Office supplies
3 Atlanta Engineering  Salaries and wages
10-10-835  Atlanta  Engineering  Telephones
10-10-840  Atlnta  Engincering  Training
10-10-845 Atlanta Engineering  Travel and entertainment
10-10-850 Atlanta Engineering  Utilities
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LocaTion [ ITEMNO. | DESCRIPTION. UM_| QUANTITY
AT0C__[Q1456__| Swich 120V. 208 2
AT0C_[UT010 [ Bok a3 A
AI0C [958 | Scrow, stainioss stoal, 2 x 38 A
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Accounting Policies and
Procedures Manual

Fifth Edition

A Blueprint for Running an Effective
and Efficient Department

Steven M. Bragg

John Wiley & Sons, Inc.





OEBPS/images/f0264-01.jpg
Stock Subscription Statement
For [employee name]
as of [date]

Stock Purchases

Payroll Dedections Share 10% Number Cash

Date Amount  Date Value  Discount of Shares Remainder
1/15/2008  $300.00
1/31/2008  $300.00 1/31/2008 §$ 12.15 § 10.94 54 $ 924
2/15/2008  $300.00
2/28/2008  $300.00 2/28/2008 § 13.10 $ 11.79 51 $ 79
3/15/2008  $300.00
3/31/2008  $300.00 3/31/2008 §$ 14.05 § 12.65 48 $ 075
4/15/2008  $300.00
4/30/2008  $300.00 4/30/2008 $ 13.75 § 12.38 48 $ 651
5/15/2008  $300.00
5/31/2008  $300.00 5/31/2008 § 13.25 §$ 11.93 50 $ 1001
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Company Name

Borrowing Base Certificate

For the month ended:
Accounts receivable balance
Less receivables > 90 days old
Net accounts receivable

f net accounts receivable balance

Raw materials inventory balance

f raw materials inventory balance

Finished goods inventory balance

f finished goods inventory balance

Total collateral
Total loan balance
Total collateral available for use

51,500,000

—$42,500
51757500

51,406,000
52,020,000

51,010,000,
$515,000

$360,500

$2,776,500

$2,000,000

Tassert that the above calculation is correct, and that all bad debts, work-in-
process, and obsolete inventory have been removed from the above balances.

CFO Signature:

Date:
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Account No.  Division  Department  Description

10-10-855  Atlanta  Engineering  Other expenses
10-10-860 Atlanta Engineering  Interest expense

10-20-800 Atlanta Sales Bank charges
10-20-805 Atlanta Sales Benefits
10-20-810 Atlanta Sales Depreciation
10-20-815 Atlanta Sales Insurance
Atlanta Office supplies
Atlanta Salaries and wages
Atlanta Telephones
Atlanta Training
Atlanta Travel and entertainment
Atlanta Utilities
10-20-855  Atlanta Other expenses
Atlanta Interest expense

10-00-900 Atlanta Extraordinary items

00-010 Seattle Cash
20-00-020 Seattle XXX Petty cash
20-00-030 Seattle 0 Accounts receivable
20-00-040 Seattle o Reserve for bad debts
20-00-050 Seattle 0 Marketable securities
00-060 Seattle XXX Raw materials inventory
20-00-070  Seatle  xxx Work-in-process inventory
20-00-080  Seatfle  xxx Finished goods inventory
20-00-090 Seattle XXX Reserve for obsolete inventory
20-00-100  Seattle o Fixed assets—Computer equipment
Seattle XX Fixed assets—Computer software
Seattle 0 Fixed assets—Furniture and fixtures
Seattle XXX Fixed assets—Leasehold improvements
20-00-140 Seattle XXX Fixed assets—Machinery
20-00-150  Seattle  xxx Accumulated depreciation—Computer equipment
20-00-160  Seattle o Accumulated depreciation—Computer software
00-170 Seattle XX Accumulated depreciation—Furniture and fixtures
00-180 Seattle XX Accumulated depreciation—Leaschold improvements
20-00-190 Seattle XXX Accumulated depreciation—Machinery
20-00-200 Seattle XXX Other assets
20-00-300  Seattle  xxx Accounts payable
20-00-310  Seatfle  xxx Accrued payroll liability
Seattle 0% Accrued vacation liability
Seattle XXX Accrued expenses liability—Other
Seattle XXX Unremitted sales taxes
20-00-350  Seattle  xxx Unremitted pension payments
20-00-360  Seattle  xxx Short-term notes payable
20-00-370 Seattle o Other short-term liabilities
00-400 Seattle XXX Long-term notes payable
00-500 Seattle XX Capital stock
00-510 Seattle XXX Retained earnings
00-600 Seattle XXX Revenue
20-00-700 Seattle XXX Cost of goods sold—Materials
20-00-710 Seattle xxx Cost of goods sold—Direct labor

20-00-720  Seattle o Cost of goods sold—Manufacturing supplies
00730 Seatle  xxx Cost of goods sold—Applied overhead
10-500  Seattle  Engineering  Engineering—Bank charges

10-505  Seattle  Engineering  Engineering—Benefits

20-10-810  Seattle  Engincering  Engineering—Depreciation
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Purchasing Card Statement of Account

[Company Name]
Statement Date:  May 2006 Statement Reference Number: 12345678
Cardholder: Mary Follett
123 Sunny Lane

Anywhere, USA 01234

Monthly Purchase  Authorizations

Single Purchase Total Allowed per Day
Spending Limits: 52,500 525,000 10
Transaction Detail:
Transaction | _ Reference SIC | Account
Date Number Supplier Code | Number | Amount
5/1/06__| 1234567AB043 | Acme Electric Supply | 7312 N $820.00
5/2/06__| 2345678CD054 | Wiley Wire Supply | 7312 B 741,32
5/5/06 | 3456789DE065 | Coyote Electrical 7312 | 0101720 5881
57/06__| 1567890EF076_| Roadrunner Electric_| 7312 = 91011
Total | $2,569.27
Reconciliation Checklist:
] 1have reconciled this statement of account
] 1have attached all recelpts to this statement of account
[ 1have completed and attached the Purchasing Card Missing Recelpt form for all
Iine ttems for which I have no feceipts
] 1have entered account numbers in the * Account Number” columa for those line
ttems that vary from the default expense account number
] 1have circled any items currently under dispute with suppliers
] 1have signed and dated this statement of account
] 1have retained a copy and understand that it must be retained for three years

Cardholder Signature: Date:
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Account No. Division Department Description

20-10-815 Seattle Engineering Engineering—Insurance
20-10-825 Seattle Engineering Engineering—Office supplies
20-10-830 Seattle Engineering Engineering—Salaries and wages
20-10-83¢ Seattle Engineering Engineering—Telephones
20-10-840 Seattle Engineering Engineering—Training
20-10-845 Seattle Engineering Engineering—Travel and entertainment
20-10-850 Seattle Engineering Engineering—Utilities
20-10-855 Seattle Engineering Engineering—Other expenses
20-10-860 Seattle Engineering Engineering—Interest expense
Seattle Sales Sales—Bank charges
20-20-805 Seattle Sales Sales—Benefits
20-20-810 Seattle Sale: Sales—Depreciation
Seattle Sales Sales—Insurance
Seattle Sales Sales—Office supplies
Seattle Sales Sales—Salaries and wages
Seattle Sales Sales—Telephones
20-20-840 Seattle Sales Sales—Training
20-20-845 Seattle Sales Sales—Travel and entertainment
20-20-850 Seattle Sales Sales—Utilities
20-20-855 Seattle Sales Sales—Other expenses
20-20-860 Seattle Sales Sales—Interest expense

20-00-900 Seattle XXX Extraordinary items
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H. Henderson

Submission Date:

Investment Description:

Additional pres for newsprini.

Cash Flows:
Tax Effctof
Working Amal Sabvage
Year Equipment Capital ~ Maintenance  Depreciation Value Taxes. Total
o Sooo0 im0 00000 ~5.400000
1 im0 320000 700000 1170000
2 “onow 520000 700000 1170000
3 “ionon 320000 0000 1170000
i “ionow 320000 00000 1170000
H 400000 100000 320000 1000000 1,650,000 700,000 2570000
“otals 500000 0500000 Z400000 1,000,000 5250000 13850000
T Rt 0%
Hurle R
Payback Period: 428
Nt Prese Value:
Itema Rat of Retum:
Type of Project (check one): Approvals:
Legal equirement Amount Signature
N product eated <5000 ?
O product extension Ve S5-19990  General Mgy
Repait/replacement $20-49.99  President
Safetyfsue S0000-  Bourd
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Company Name

Bank Reconciliation

Bank: Account No:
Asof
Balance Disburse- Balance
11/ Receipts ments. 12131/xx
Per bank....... $ 12631250 $ 9242000 $ 8511900 $ 13361350
Add:
Deposits in transit
11/30 per book S 560000 5 (5600.00)
12/31 per book $ 1250000 S 1250000
Deduct:
Outstanding checks
November (see list) s 432000 S (4115000 S 20500
December (see list) S 611000 S 611000
Other liems:
Bank charges not recorded 501 501
Per books.. § 12750250 § 09.32000 S 8710899 S 139.803.51
Prepared by

Date






OEBPS/images/f0235-01.jpg
Stock Appreciation Rights
Standard Calculation Form

Company Valuation:
Public Sector  Estimated
Business Segment  Valuation  Company
Segment Revenue Multiple Valuation
Outdoor advertising $1500000 12 $5.400.000
Publishing $12250000 17 520,825,000
Rentals 10
Share Valuation:
Estimated
Number of ~ Participation  Value per
Stock Type Shares Percentage Share
Common 12000000 100% § 22624
Preferred Series A 1500000 200% § 4528
Stock Appreciation Rights 150000 100%  § 22624
13,650,000
SAR Compensation Expense:
Numberof ~Issuance  Compensation
Date of SAR Issuance Shares Price Expense
5/15/2005 50000 $  L10 58119
8/21/2005 80000 § 138 70,590

s
s

11/3/2005 175§ 10.248
$

SAR compensation already recognized: _$ 120,000

SAR compensation expense accrual: _$ 18956
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o
Tag: 2024
Part No. Unit __
Description
Quantity

2024

Part No.

Date

After Count

Issued Revd

Description

Unit
Quantity

Location

Counter

Checker

(Front)

Revarsd)
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Company Name
Sales Return Credit Calculation Form

Customer Name: Date:

Sales Return Authorization Number:

Product Unit  Extended Damage
Number Quantity Description Price  Price  Credit
Totals _

Less:

20% Restocking Fee

“Total Damage Credit

$25 Transaction Fee s 2

Net Credit Granted

Clerk Signature Clerk Name
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Company Name
Sales Return Authorization Form

Customer Name: Date:
Sales Return Authorization Number: (Required)
Product Being Returned Reason for
Number  Quantit Description Return

Product damaged in transit

Product quality below required level
3= Incorrect product shipped

[ncorrect quantity shipped

Shipment made to wrong location
6= Other (describe below)

Other reasons for return:
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Loan Borrowing/Paydown Form

for [Company Name]
T tention of:
Lending officer name
gy oane
Lending entity address.
Borrow aydown  Dollar Amount oan Number ‘Company Account Number
O 0O s W
o
O O s = “
h
O O s =
0O O s ko W
. ot
O O s s by
&
Signature Printed Name Title/Date

Confirmation Phone Number
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Create the
Annual Budget
(BUD.0)

Load Budgetinto
Financials
(BUD.02)

Create Budget
Variance Report
(BUD.03)

Budget
(BUD)

Conduct
Quarterly Budget
Review
(BUD-04)
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Account No.

Description

Actual Results

Budgeted Results

Variance

4500-010

Arizona Revenue

843,529

$51,000

—87471
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FINANCING BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED XX/XX/08

Cash Position

Financing Option One
Additional Debt

Financing Option Two
Additional Preferred Stock

Financing Option Three
Additional Common Stock

Existing Capital Structure
Debt
Preferred Stock
Common Stock
Existing Cost of Capital

Revised Cost of Capital
Financing Option One
Financing Option Two
Financing Option Three

Quarter 1

$20,497

$225,000

$225,000

$400,000

$150,000

500,000

10.7%

Quarter 2

—$34,627

$225,000

Quarter 3

—$223,727

Financing
Quarter 4 Cost

—$137,772

18.0%

9.0%
7.5%
18.0%

Note: Tax rate equals 38%.
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INCOME AND CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED XX/XX/08

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4  Totals
Revemue $1,821,000 §1,912,850 §1,993,000 52,072,250 7,799,100
Cost of Goods Sold
Matertals $388,400  $322,400  $348,400  §398,466 $1,457,665
Direct Labor 125,702 124,985 140,441 143,215 534,343
overhead
Supervision 38,250 38,250 39,750 39,750 156,000
Maintenance Department 365,250 318,750 353,500 347,750 1,385,250
Materials Management 86,125 83,750 83,750 83,750 337,375
Quality Department 35,000 34,500 34,500 42,625 146,625
other Expenses 77.200 73,950 73,950 78,950 __ 304,050
Total Cost of Goods Sold 51,115,527 $996,565 51,074,291 51,134,506 4,321,309
Gross Margin 705,073 916,265 919,700 §937,744 $3.477.751
operating Expenses
sales Department $137,195 525,840  $148,350  §1%0,286  $681,711
General and Administrative
Department
Accounting 75,123 77,873 86,973 75,473 315,440
corporate 105,758 95,198 53,148 99,158 403,343
Hunan Resources 55,603 57,520 60,291 50,608 224,021
Marketing Department 117,615 127,715 126,065 93,665 465,060
Facilities Department 85,898 65,208 ss,sss 61,436 302,528
Research Department 248,545 282,445 281,885 271,625 1,084,860
Total Operating Expenses _$626.176 5916665 5691,605  $642,200 33,476,963
Net Profit (Loss) 121,103 —s62s 527,100 595,455 028
Quarter 1 Ouarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4  Iotals
cash Elow
Beginning Cash 520,497 34,627 —§223,727
Net Profit (Loss) -$121,103  —s624  $27,100  $95,455 s028
Add Depreciation $49,600  $51,500  $50,800  $51,000  $202,900
Minus Capital Purchases ~$8.000_—$106,000 =$267,000 _=$60,500 —$441,500
Ending Cash 520,457 _—s34,627 —5223,727 —5137,772






OEBPS/images/f0411-01.jpg
CAPTTAL BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED XX/XX/08
Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Totals
Bottleneck-Related Expeditures
Stamping machine $150,000 $150,000
Facility for Machine $72,000 $72,000
Headcount-Related Expenditures
Headcount change X $7,000
added staff $0 $21,000 $0 $42,000  $63,000
Profit-Related Expenditures
Blending machine $50,000 $50,000
Polishing machine $27,000 $27,000
safety-Related Expenditures
Machine shielding $3,000 $3,000 $6,000
Handicapped walkways $8,000 $5,000 $13,000
Required Expenditures
Clean air scrubber $42,000 $42,000
Other Expenditures
Tool crib expansion $18,500 _$18,500
Total expenditures $8,000  $106,000  $267,000 $60,500 $441,500
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RESEARCH DEPARTMENT FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED XX/XX/08

Departmental Qverhead
Depreciation
office supplies
Payroll taxes
salaries
Travel and entertainment
Expense subtotal

Research-Specific Expenses
Gamma project
omega Project
Pi Project
Upsilon project
Expense subtotal

Developnent=Specific Bxpenses
Latin Project
Greek Project
Mabinogian Project
o1a English Project
Expense subtotal

Expense grand total

statistics
Budgeted number of patent
applications filed
Pproportion of expenses:
overhead
Research
Development
Total Expenses

Ouarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Totals
§ 500 § 500 § 400 $ 400 1,800
750 2,000 1,500 1,250 5,500
9,945 9,945 9,985 11,475 41,310
130,000 130,000 130,000 150,000 540,000
o o o o o
$141,195 142,485  §141,845  $163,125  $588,610
$20,000  $43,500  §35,000  $12,500  $111,000
5,000 6,000 7,500 3,000 27,500
14,000 7,000 7,500 4,500 33,000
s00 2,500 5,000 ) 8,000
$39,500  §59,000  $55,000  $26,000 _$179,500
§ 28,000 § 29,000 § 30,000 § 15,000 § 102,000
14,000 14,500 15,000 7,500 51,000
20,000 25,000 15,000 10,000 70,000
6,250 12,500 25,000 50,000 93,750
68,250 S 81,000 5 65,000 & 62,500 _§ 316,750
$248,945 282,485 _§281,845 _ $271,625_ $1,084,660
2 0 1 1 4

56.7% 50.4% 50.3% 60.1% 217.5%
15.9% 20.9% 19.5% 5.6% 65.8%
27.3% 28.7% 30.2% 30.4% 116.6%
100.0v 1000t __ 100.0t __ 100.0% 400.0¢






OEBPS/images/f0409-01.jpg
FACILITIES BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED XX/XX/08

Facilty Expenses
Contracted services
Depreciation
Electricity charges
Inspection fees
Insurance
Maintenance supplies
payroll taxes
Property taxes
Repairs
Sewage charges
Trash disposal
Wages—Janitorial
Wages—Maintenance
Water charges

Expense grand total

Statistics
Total square feet
Square feet/Employee
Unused square footage

Quarter 1  Quarter 2  Quarter 3  Quarter 4 Totals
$ 5,500 $ 5,400 $ 5,000 $ 4,500  $ 20,400
29,000 29,000 28,000 28,000 114,000
4,500 3,500 3,500 4,500 16,000
500 0 [ 500 1,000
8,000 o 0 [ 8,000
3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 12,000
1,148 1,148 1,148 1,186 4,628
0 5,000 o [ 5,000
15,000 0 29,000 [ 44,000
250 250 250 250 1,000
3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 12,000
5,000 5,000 5,000 5,500 20,500
10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 40,000
1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 4,000
$85,898 $66,298 $88,898 $61,436  $302,528
52,000 52,000 78,000 78,000
839 813 1,219 1,099
1,200 1,200 12,500 12,500
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STAPPING BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED XX/XX/08
Average Overtime
Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Salary Rercent
Regional Sales Manager 1 2 2 3 $120,000 ov
Salesperson 2 s 4 6 565,000 ov
sales support Staff 1 1 1 2 $34,000 By
Marketing Manager 1 1 1 1 $85,000 53
Marketing Researcher 2 2 2 2 $52,000 ov
Secretary 1 1 1 1 $34,000 6
President 1 1 1 1 $175,000 3
Chief operating officer 1 1 1 1 $125,000 ov
Chief Pinancial Officer 1 1 1 1 $100,000 ot
Human Resources manager 1 1 1 1 $80,000 ov
Accounting Staff . s . 4 540,000 10¢
Human Resources Staff 2 2 2 2 $35,000 8¢
Executive Secretary 1 1 1 1 $45,000 s
Chief Scientist i 1 1 1 $100,000 ov
senior Engineer Staff 3 3 3 4 $80,000 ot
Junior Engineer staff 3 3 3 3 $60,000 ot
Overhead Budget
Production Manager 1 1 1 1 $65,000 ov
Quality Manager 1 1 1 1 $55,000 ot
Materials Manager 1 1 1 1 $75,000 o
Production Scheduler 1 1 1 1 345,000 ov
Quality Assurance Staff 2 2 2 3 $32,500 8t
Purchasing staft H 2 2 2 $37,500 EY
Materials Management Staff 4 s s 5 $28,000 B
Total headcount 3 a2 a2 e
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GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED XX/XX/08

Depreciation

office supplies

Payroll taxes

salaries

Training

Travel and entertainment
Expense subtotal

Corporate Expenses
Depreciation
office supplies
Payroll taxes
salaries
Insurance, business
Training
Travel and entertainment
Expense subtotal

Human Resources Department.
Benefits programs
Depreciation
office supplies
Payroll taxes
salaries
Training
Travel and entertainment

Expense subtotal

Expense grand total

Statistics

Expense as proportion
of revenue

Benchnark comparison

Ouarter 1 Ouarter 2 Quarter 3 Ouarter 4 ITotals Notes

4,000 4,000 4,250 4,250 16,500
650 650 750 750 2,800
4,973 4,973 4,973 4,973 19,890
$65,000  $65,000  $65,000 65,000 260,000
500 2,500 7,500 o 10,500

o 750 4,500 500 5,750
75,123 77,873 86,973 75,473 315,440
50 500 ss50 600 2,100
1,000 850 750 1,250 3,850
5,598 5,598 5,598 5,598 26,393
$86,250  $86,250  $86,250  $85,250 345,000
4,500 4,500 4,500 4,500 18,000
5,000 o o o 5,000
2,000 500 500 o 3,000
105,798 99,198 99,148 99,198 403,343
7,284 7,651 7,972 8,285 31,196
500 500 500 500 2,000
50 8,000 as0 4s0 9,350
2,869 2,869 2,869 2,869 11,475
$37,500  $37,500  $37,500  $37,500 150,000
5,000 o 7,500 o 12,500
2,000 1,000 3,500 1,000 7,500
55,603 57,520 60,201 50,608 223,021
236,523 233,551  2a6.a11 225,278 942,608
13.0% 12.3% 12.5% 10.9%  12.1%
11.5% 11.5% 11.5% 1.5% 115t

0.4%
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MARKETING BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED XX/XX/08

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Totals
Departmental Overhead
Depreciation 650 750 850 1,000 3,250
office supplies 200 200 200 200 800
Payroll taxes 4,265 4,265 4,265 4,265 17,060
salaries $55,750  $55,750  $55,750  $55,750 223,000
Travel and entertainment 5,000 6,500 7,250 7,250 _26,000
Expense subtotal 65,865 67,465 68,315 68,465 270,110
Campaign-Specific Expenses
Product Line Alpha 14,000 26,000 30,000 o 70,000
Product Line Beta 18,000 [ 0 24,000 42,000
Product Line Charlie 0
Advertising 10,000 [ 20,000 0 30,000
Promotional tour 5,000 25,000 2,000 0 32,000
Coupon redemption 2,000 4,000 4,500 1,200 11,700
Product samples 2,750 5,250 1,250 0 _ 9,250
Expense subtotal 51,750 60,250 57,750 25,200 194,950
Expense grand total 117,615 127,715 126,065 93,665 465,060
statistics
Expense as percent of total sales 6.5% 6.7% 6.3% 4.5% 6.0%
Expense proportion by quarter 25.3% 27.5% 27.1% 20.1% 100.0%
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epartmental Overhead

Depreciation

oOffice supplies

Payroll taxes

salaries

Travel and entertainment
Expense subtotal

Product Line Alpha
Expenses by Salesperson

Jones, Milbert
smidley, Jefferson
verity, Jonas

Expense subtotal

Expenses by Region
East Coast
Midwest
West Coast

Expense subtotal

Expense grand total
Statistics

Revenue per salesperson
T&E per salesperson

SALES DEPARTMENT BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED XX/XX/08
Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Totals
$500 $500 $500 $500 $2,000
§750 $600 $650 $600 $2,600
$2,945 $5,240 $5,240 $8,186 $21,611
$38,500 $68,500 $68,500  $107,000 $282,500
$1,500 $1,500 $1,500 $2,000 $6,500
544,195 $76,340 $76,390 _ $118,286 $315,211
$32,000 $18,000 50 $21,000 $71,000
$14,000 $16,500 $17,000 $12,000 $59,500
$1,000 $9,000 $8,000 $12,000 $30,000
§7,000 $9,000 $14,000 $12,000 $42,000
$22,000 $34,500 $39,000 $36,000 $131,500
$52,000 $71,000 $15,000 50 $138,000
$8,000 $14,000 $6,000 $12,000 $40,000
$11,000 $10,000 $12,000 $24,000 $57,000
$71,000 $95,000 $33,000 $36,000 $235,000
$137,195  $205,840 _ $148,390 _ $190,286 $681,711
$607,000  $637,617  $664,333  $690,750 §$2,599,700
$500 $500 $500 $667 $2,167
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COST OF GOODS SOLD BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED XX/XX/08
Ouarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Ouarters  Totals
roduct Line Alpha
Revenue 5210,000  $311,850  §370,000  §457,250 $1,349,100
Materials expense 108,400 108,400 113.400 155,216 __ 485,416
Contribution Margin $5 _$101,600 _ $203,450 _ $256,600 _ $302,034 _ 863,684
Contribution Margin ¥ 0% 65t ot 66t 6t
Product Line Beta
Revenue 51,048,000 $1,057,000 $1,061,000 $1,053,000 $4,219,000
Materials expense 12,000 14.000 15,000 13,250 54,250
Contribution Margin $§  $1,036,000 §1,043,000 51,046,000 §1,039,750 $4,164,750
Contribution Margin ¢ D D 9% Eey 9%
Revenue-product Li:
Charlie
Revenue 563,000  $544,000  §562,000  §562,000 $2,231,000
Materials expense 526,000 $200,000  $220,000  5230,000 _$918,000
Contribution Margin $§  _$295,000  §344,000  $342,000 _ $332,000 $1,313,000
Contribution Margin ¥ EQ GO GO 9% v
Total Contribution
Nargin $$ $1,432,600 $1,590,450 $1,643,600 §1,673,784 $6,341,434
Total Contribution
Margin % 9% o o o a1v
Direct Labor Expense 5125702 $124,985  $140,441  5143,215 _$534,343
$601,825  §545,200  $585,450  $592,825 52,329,300
Total Gross Margin $§ $705,073  §916,265  $918,705  $937,744 $3.477,791
Total Gross Margin % EED ) 6t FE Ty
Mumber of Production
stats® 2 22 2 2
Average Annual Revenue
per Production Employee $316,696  §347,791  $362,364  $360,391
‘Not. including general assesbly staff.
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Shift Manager Salaries
Expense subtotal

Equipment Maintenance
Stage

Factlities Maintenance
stage

Equipment Repairs

Facility Repairs
Expense subtotal

Materials wanagenent
‘Departnent

state
Expense subtotal

‘Quality pepartment
Manager salary
Quality statf
Lab Testing Supplies

Expense subtotal

Deprectation

Ueilities

Botler Insurance
Expense subtotal

Expense grand total

16,250 §16,250 16,250 $16,250 65,000
22,000 22,000 23,500 23,500 51,000
538,250 $39.750 539,750 _ §156,000
554,000 558,000  §60,250  $228,750

8,250 8,50 8500 33,500

225,000 275,000 225,000 950,000
78,000 12,000 54,000 173,000

365,250 3353500 §347,750 51,385,250
518,750 $18,750  §18,750 518,750  §75,000
28,125 18,750 18,750 84,375
28,000 35,000 35,000 35,000 133,000
11,25 31,250 11,250 11,25 45,000
386,125 563,750 583,750 583,750 _$337,375
$13,750  $13,750  §13,750  $13,750  §55,000
16,250 16,250 16,250 24,375 73,125

5000 4,500 4,500 4,50 18,500
$35,000  $34,500  §34,500 42,625  $146,625
$14,000 $15,750  §15,750 515,750  §61,250
60,000 55,000 55,000 60,000 230,000

3,200 3,200 3,200 3,200 12,800
577,200 573,950 573,950 578,950 _5304,050

601,835 §549,300 sses,as0 gesa,eas 52,323,300

40708

sot-708
sov-700

prosres
s08-70%

sov-708
s08-70%
sov-70%

s08-70%
sov-70%

sov-708
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DIRECT LABOR BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED XX/XX/08

Ouarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4  Totals Notes

Machining Department
Senior Machine Operator  §15,120 §15,372  $23,058 $23,058  §76,608
Machining Apprentice 4,91 4,964 9,929 9,925 29,736
Expense subtotal $20,034 520,336 _§32,987 _$32,987 $106,344
Senior paint Shop Staff  §15,876 $16,128 $16,128 $16,128  $64,260
painter Apprentice 55,065 5,216 5,216 §5,216 20,714
Expense subtotal 520,941 521,344 521,344 521,344 _$84,974
Polishing Department
Senior Polishing Statf 516,632 §11,844  $11,844 §11,844 52,164
Polishing Apprentice 4,30 4,50 a1 s 17,89
Expense subtotal $20,992_§16,355 _ §16,355 _§16,355 _§70,056
General Laborer 563,735 66,950 69,755 §72,529  $272,969
Expense subtotal 563,735 566,950 569,755 §72,509 $272,969
Expense grand total §125,702 5124985 _5140,441 5143,215  $534,343
Statistics

Union Hourly Rates
Sentor Machine Operator  $15.00  §15.25  $15.25  §15.25

Machining Apprentice 5.75 5.85 5.85 5.85
Senior Paint Shop Staff  15.75  16.00  16.00  16.00
Painter Apprentice 10,05 1035 1035 10.35
sentor Polishing staff oo 1175 175 117
Polishing Apprentice s.65 5.5 .95 a.95

Headcount by Position
Sentor Machine Operator
Machining Apprentice
Senior Paint Shop Staff
Painter Apprentice
Sentor Polishing staff
Polishing Apprentice
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PURCHASING BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED XX/XX/08

Inventory Turnover Goals
Raw materials turnover

Product Line Alpha Purchasing (Option 1

Planned production

Standard material cost/Unit

Total material cost

i .

option 2

Planned production
Molded part
Labels
Fittings and fasteners

Total cost of components
oAl .

option 2

Plastic Commodities
Molded Part Units
Molded Part Cost

Adhesives Commodity
Labels Units
Labels Cost

Fasteners Commodity
Fasteners Units
Fasteners Cost

statistics

Materials as percent

of revenue

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4  Totals

4.0 4.5 5.0 5.5 4.8
20,000 20,000 20,000 27,375
§5.42 §5.42 §5.67 $5.67

$108,400 108,400 $113,400 _ $155,216 485,416
20,000 20,000 20,000 27,375
s4.62 s4.62 s4.85 s4.85
50.42 50.42 50.42 $0.42
50.38 50.38 50.40 50.40
$5.42 $5.42 $5.67 $5.67
20,000 20,000 20,000 27,375
54.62 54.62 34.85 $4.85
20,000 20,000 20,000 27,375
50.42 50.42 50.42 50.42
20,000 20,000 20,000 27,375
50.38 50.38 50.40 $0.40
6% 6% 8% 8%
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PRODUCTION AND INVENTORY BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED XX/XX/08

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Totals

Inventory Turnover Goals

Raw materials turnover 1.0 4.5 5.0 5.5 4.8
W-I-P turnover 12.0 15.0 18.0 21.0 16.5
Finished goods turnover 6.0 6.0 9.0 9.0 7.5
Product Line Alpha Production
Beginning inventory units 15,000 21,000 20,000 15,000 -
Unit sales budget 14,000 21,000 25,000 31,000 91,000
Planned production 20,000 20,000 20,000 27,375 87,375
Ending inventory units 21,000 20,000 15,000 11,375
Bottleneck unit capacity 20,000 20,000 20,000 40,000
Bottleneck utilization 100% 100% 100% 68%

Planned finished goods turnover 15,167 15,167 11,375 11,375
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REVENUE BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED XX/XX/08
Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Totals
Unit price $15.00 $14.85 $14.80 $14.75 -
Unit volume 14,000 21,000 25,000 31,000 91,000
Revenue subtotal $210,000  $311,850  $370,000  $457,250 $1,349,100
Product Line Beta
Revenue subtotal $1,048,000 $1,057,000 $1,061,000 §1,053,000 $4,219,000
Product Line Charlie
Region 1 $123,000  $95,000 $82,000 §70,000  $370,000
Region 2 80,000 89,000 95,000 101,000 365,000
Region 3 95,000 95,000 65,000 16,000 271,000
Region 4 265,000 265,000 320,000 375,000 1,225,000
Revenue subtotal $563,000  $544,000  $562,000  $562,000 $2,231,000
Revenue grand total $1,821,000 $1,912,850 $1,993,000 $2,072,250 $7,799,100
Quarterly revenue proportion 23.3% 24.5% 25.6% 26.6% 100.0%
Statistics
Product line proportion:
Alpha 11.5% 16.33% 18.6% 22.1% 17.3%
Beta 57.6% 55.3% 53.2% 50.8% 54.1%
Charlie 30.9% 28.4% 28.2% 27.1% 28.6%
Product line total 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
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[Supplier Name] Royalty Statement

for the Third Fiscal Quarter Ended
[Date]
Product Name
Product Name
Product Name

Total Product Revenue

Royalty Calculati

49%  First $50,000 $ 2000

7% x Excess over $50,000, up to $200,000 $ 10500

11% x Excess over $200,000 $ 6683

Total Royalty for the Fiscal Year § 10183
Less: Previous Payments Made $
Total Payment $

[Company Name],

By: Date:
Signature of Authorized Officer
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June 2008 Commissions.
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S

Anmualized Maximum  Masimum Maximum Accrued Required
Name Salayy  Hows  Accal  Division Accrual  Balmee  Eniy

Adams, Latone  $45000 4000 $865  Subsidiary A
Beng Brim  $103500 4000 $1990  SubsidiaryA
Blotien Charles ~ $75250 4000 SI447  SubsidiaryA $7253 $5.50__$2003
Clarion, Alice ~ $97000 4000 S1865 SubsidiaryA
Corey, David §$56400 4000 SLOSS  SubsidiaryA
Brower Franklin ~ $85000 8000 $3260  SubsidiaryB
Hustle James  $48000 8000 SI846  SubsidiaryB
Imes Mandy ~ $99000 8000  $3808  SubsidiaryB 13346 $12.000__$1346
Mandrel Steven ~ $65000 8000 $2500  SubsidiaryB
VandenPlee,Jor  $100000 4000 $1923  SubsidiaryB
Chao, Brian $60000 4000 SLIS4  Subsidiary C
Dunwiddy John ~ $51039 4000 $98  Subsidiary C
Ephaim, Joe $48900 4000 $940  Subsidiary C $5.225
Horvath Makk  $3775) 4000 $726  Subsidiary C
McKema Jason ~ $74000 4000 $1423  SubsidiaryC
Journal Entry: Accoust Deseription Accomt No Debit | Credit

Salary expense—Subsidiary A 600001 $2.003

‘Salary expense—Subsidiary B 6000.02 $1346

‘Salary expense—Subsidiary C 6000.02 5

Vacation Accrual 22300 $3574
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Wage Accrual Spreadsheet For the month
Pay Rate Unpaid
Department  Hourly Personnel per Hour  Hours in Month Pay Accrual
Marketing ~ Belowe, Melissa $ 40.00 14.00 $ 560.00
Production  Brandon, Andrew $ 1815 72.00 $  1,306.80
Production  Gutierrez, Pablo $ 1725 72.00 $ 1,24200
Production  Holloway, Tim $ 1643 72.00 $ 118296
Production  Innes, Sean $ 15.00 72.00 $  1,080.00
Production  Smith, Michael $ 1500 72.00 $  1,080.00
Consulting  Verity, Thomas $ 50.00 7200 $  3,600.00
Journal Entry: Account
Number Debit. Credit
Production Wages 6215002 § 5,891.76
Production Payroll Taxes 6225002 § 365.29
Marketing Wages 6215001 § 560.00
Marketing Payroll Taxes 6225001 § 3472
Consulting Wages 50050-03 § 3,600.00
Consulting Payroll Taxes 6225003 § 223.20

Wage Accrual 22800 $ 10,674.97
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Journal Entry Form

Date: Approval:

Account No. Account Name Debit Credit

Reason for journal entry:

Exchange rate used:
Exchange rate source document:
Date of source document:
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Missing Purchasing Card Form

[Company Name]
‘Your Contact Information:

Name: ‘Address Line 1:
Phone Number: ‘Address Line 2:
Fax Number:

Loss Information:
[]  Card was stolen

[] cardwasost

[0 other (describe).

Purchasing Card Number:

[]  1donot have a record of the purchasing card number.

E Bank Notification Information:
Name of person contacted at bank:

Date of contact: ‘Time of contact;

E Card Replacement Information:
[ Send mea replacement card by regular ma.
[J  Send me a replacement card by overnight delivery.

My FedEx account number is:

Card Holder
Signature: Date:

Form PUR-197
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Purchasing Card Spending Limit Change Request Form

[Company Name]
“Your Contact Information:
Name: Address Line 1:
"Phone Number: Address Line 2:

Fax Number:

Purchasing Card Number:

Requested Spending Limits:

Monthly Purchase  Authorizations
Single Purchase Total Allowed per Day

$ $ $

E Authorization Signatures:

‘Montly
Spending  Authorized
Limit Approver Signature Print Name Date

$10000  Dept. Manager

$10,001-  Operations Vice
$25000  President

$25,000+  Chief Operating
Officer

E Purchasing Card Manager Approval:

Signature Print Name Date

Form PUR-195
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Purchasing Card Line Item Rejection

Your Contact Information: Dispute Information:
Name: Card Number:

Phone Number Line Item Number
Fax Number Line Item Date:
Address Line | Line Item Amount
Address Line 2: Supplier Name:

Check the box next to the reason for your line item rejection, and add explanations as
requested. Sign and mail or fax the completed form to the location indicated at the
bottom of this form.

O
O
O
O
O

O

1id not authorize the purchasing transaction represented by this line item.

1 have a recelpt indicating a different amount than was charged in this line item.
(attach a copy of the recelpt)

1 have already been billed for this amount in a previous account statement.
Date of the previous charge:

1 have a credit voucher offseting this line item, but which does not appear on the
account statement.
(attach a copy of the credit voucher)

1 have not received the goods ordered or have returned them.
Details of the dispute:

1am disputing this line ttem for other reasons.
Details of the dispute:

Signature: Date:

Mail To: FaxTo: (111) 1111111

Bank Name
Bank Address
City, State, Zip

Form No. PUR-194
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Purchasing Card Missing Recelpt Form

[Company Name]
Your Contact Information:

Name: Address Line 1:
Phone Number: Address Line 2:

Fax Number:

Account Statement Information:

Statement MonthvYear:

Statement Reference Number:

Tine ltem | Line ltem | Line ltem
Number | Date | Amount | Supplier Name Description

1 certify that the above expenditures were legitimate business expenditures on behalf of
the company.

Card Holder
Signature: Date:

Department Manager
Signature: Date:

Form PUR-196.
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TRANS. PURCHASED | TOTAL
No.  |DATE |SuPPLIER NAME ITEm PRICE | COMMENTS
DESCRIPTION
1 5/1/08 | Acme Electric 200w 5829.00
Supply floodiights
2 5/2/08 | Wiley Wire Supply | Breaker panels | 741.32
3 5/5/08 | Coyote Electrical 12 gauge cable | 58.81 | Returned for credit
4 5/7/08 | Roadrunner Electric | Foot light trim | 940.14
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Company Name
Mailroom Remittance Sheet
Receipts of [Month/Day/Year]

Source
Check  if Not
Number Check Sender City and State Amount
1602 The Rush Airplane Company _ Scranton, PA $ 12612
Cash _Rental Air Service Stamford, CT $ 19.50
2402 Automatic Service Company _ Los Angeles, CA__$ _ 316.00
1613 Voe Parts Dealer Toledo, OH $ 2.90
9865 Brush Flectric Company Chicago, I, $ 2550
2915 Ajax Manufacturing Company Cleveland, OH __§ 1,002.60
8512 Apex Machine Tool Co. New York, NY $ 18.60
Total Receipts ~_$_1511.22
Prepared by:

Date:
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